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In one word, 2018 could be characterized as “uncertain.” 
Consolidation continued among ocean carriers even as  
tariffs — real, retaliatory and rumored — led to anxiety  
that ultimately manifested in record cargo volumes during  
the latter half of the year.

In spite of the uncertainties, The Northwest Seaport Alliance 
forged ahead on major projects and initiatives to further  
solidify our place as an international gateway of choice 
for decades to come. Why? Because one thing is certain: 
Competition will only grow more intense.

Early in the year, we completed the Pier 4 reconfiguration 
project in our Tacoma Harbor and added four super-post-
Panamax cranes, bolstering our cargo-handling capabilities.  
In late 2018, we welcomed the largest ship to ever call Tacoma. 
As we watched the massive 14,000-TEU vessel navigate our 
waterway, we saw firsthand how our investments align with 
the future of the shipping industry. 

Meanwhile in our Seattle Harbor, Terminal 18 set records by 
making 2018 the first time a marine terminal handled a million 
TEUs in a single year in Washington state. The Seattle terminal 
capped the year at 1.1 million TEUs. While the tariff-related 
surge in volume led to poor dwell times at many gateways, the 
NWSA stood out as uniquely capable of handling the increased 
volume as evidenced not just at Terminal 18 but across many  
of our terminal properties.

We also welcomed new cargo to the gateway in December: 
Nissans. Slated to be completed in 2019, the Taylor Way Auto 
Facility piqued extra interest when congestion south of here 
necessitated more space to bring in autos. 

Finally, preparation for the Terminal 5 Modernization Program 
went into high gear to ready a commercial deal and lay the 
groundwork for construction in 2019. The modernization is part 
of a larger North Harbor Strategy that will align Seattle terminal 
uses to maximize freight mobility through our gateway.

The Northwest Seaport Alliance is making headway on the 
strategic vision we set at its formation. I am proud of the work 
of our team, our customers’ collaboration and the community 
support we enjoy. May we, together, continue to navigate 
global uncertainties with a keen eye on the long-term horizon.

John Wolfe, chief executive officer 
The Northwest Seaport Alliance

CEO LETTER NAVIGATING THE FUTURE OF SHIPPING

John Wolfe, chief executive officer
The Northwest Seaport Alliance

Left: North Harbor in Seattle
Right: South Harbor in Tacoma
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In August 2015, the ports of Seattle and Tacoma joined 
forces and formed The Northwest Seaport Alliance. 
The first of its kind in North America, the partnership 
unifies the two ports’ marine cargo terminal 
investments, operations, planning and marketing 
activities to strengthen the Puget Sound gateway  
and attract more business opportunities to the  
region. The alliance is governed by the elected 
commissions of the two ports as equal members.

JOHN McCARTHY
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Four cranes, nearly the height of the Statue of Liberty, turned 
heads in February 2018 as they crossed Puget Sound aboard 
a heavy-lift ship. Another four cranes arrived 13 months later, 
capping a $266 million project that will allow two vessels, 
each carrying 18,000 containers, to dock simultaneously 
at Husky Terminal. This capacity will become essential for 
port stakeholders as more ocean carriers operate ultra-large 
container ships. Last year, 450 ships in the global container  
fleet exceeded 10,000 twenty-foot equivalent units (TEUs),  
with another 130 ultra-large container ships on order, according 
to research from Alphaliner and Dynaliners. 

Construction at Pier 4 to prepare for these big ships wrapped 
up on time and $16.1 million under budget in April 2018. The 
project extended the terminal into the Blair Waterway to create 
a single 2,960-foot-long pier. During construction, contractors 
drove 1,245 concrete piles into the seabed to support the weight 
of the new cranes. The project required dredging nearly a half 
million cubic yards of material to accommodate the draft of 
ultra-large vessels. On-shore enhancements included new  

SUPER-POST-PANAMAX CRANES 
ARRIVE IN TACOMA

crane rail, paving, power infrastructure and a 6,700-square-foot operations building with offices 
and break facilities for longshore workers. The construction began in 2016, with the design work 
starting two years earlier. 

Fabrication of the cranes took place at a Shanghai Zhenhua Heavy Industries Co. Ltd. (ZPMC) 
facility in China. ZPMC won a competitive bid to fabricate all eight cranes, which incorporate 
operator cabs, brake systems and electronics from Europe. No U.S. company builds container 
cranes that size, and ZPMC delivers more than 200 cranes annually to facilities around the world, 
including U.S. ports. NWSA teams were a frequent presence in Shanghai to monitor fabrication 
and testing. They included journeymen electricians and mechanics, as well as longshore 
representatives who suggested efficiency improvements for the operator cabs. 

Unlike the old cranes installed nearly three decades earlier, the new cranes came equipped with 
integrated cameras and automation systems that can improve efficiency. Critically, they have 
an outreach of 24 containers and a 165-foot lift height. This allows the loading and unloading 
of ships substantially larger than the vessels the terminal could accommodate with its previous 
equipment, which had an outreach of 16 to 18 containers.

The new cranes entered service in August 2018. This followed operator training and testing that 
involved repeatedly lifting a 65-ton load over a 24-hour period. 

To accommodate larger ships in all tidal conditions, the NWSA is pursuing approval to dredge 
the waterway in the South Harbor. Looking ahead, the NWSA also envisions long-term 
improvements to the backlands at Husky Terminal. Eventually, a single terminal between  
the Blair and Sitcum waterways could welcome the bigger ships as the NWSA prepares  
for growth in the years ahead.

The largest container 
cranes in the 
Northwest arrived in 
Tacoma in 2018 —  
a landmark moment 
as The Northwest 
Seaport Alliance 
prepares for larger 
vessels and cargo 
volume in the  
years ahead. 
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As construction wrapped up to make the South Harbor big-ship 
ready, The Northwest Seaport Alliance also set plans in motion to 
further prepare Seattle for the world’s largest container vessels. 

The City of Seattle issued a shoreline permit for extensive 
improvements to Terminal 5 in early 2018. With a four-year 
permitting phase complete, the NWSA Managing Members in 
November directed staff to advance a capital improvement plan 
that will allow the terminal to serve two ultra-large container 
ships simultaneously. This represents a critical strategic 
investment by the alliance to transform Terminal 5 into one of 
the premier international container facilities on the West Coast.

Construction will begin mid-2019, following an April 2019 
vote to budget $340 million for the Terminal 5 Modernization 
Program. Managing Members also approved a new 32-year 
lease allowing Stevedoring Services of America Terminals and 
Terminal Investment Limited to restart container operations in 
Seattle when the first phase of work is completed in 2021. The 
deal, including a future second-phase commitment, represents 
approximately a half-billion dollars in private and public 
investment into the region’s economy.

Jan. 1, 2019, brought a huge change to The Northwest 
Seaport Alliance. Eleven years after the creation of the Clean 
Truck Program, the NWSA international container terminals 
started requiring a 2007 or newer engine or certified equivalent 
emission control system.

The voluntary initiative was established in 2008 after the ports of 
Seattle, Tacoma and Vancouver, British Columbia, teamed up to 
reduce emissions. The Northwest Ports Clean Air Strategy called 
for an 80 percent reduction in diesel particulate matter by 2020. 

Because diesel emissions increase the risk of asthma, cancer and 
heart disease, the Clean Truck Program aimed at reducing these 
harmful emissions with newer engines, which emit 90 percent 
less diesel particulate matter than older models. 

Enacting the Clean Truck Program was easier said than done. In 
fact, NWSA Chief Operations Officer Dustin Stoker said it is one 
of the NWSA’s most significant initiatives because of the amount 
of coordination and communication with so many stakeholders.

TERMINAL 5 PREPARES  
FOR ITS BIG-SHIP OVERHAUL

NEW CLEAN TRUCKS 
BREATHE A LITTLE EASIER

Containers first arrived at Terminal 5 in 1964, and its last expansion two decades ago allowed  
it to serve vessels carrying up to 6,000 TEUs. Today, many new vessels can carry three times that 
amount, following the expansion of the Panama Canal and consolidation of ocean carriers. The  
Port of Seattle, one of the two members of the NWSA, suspended container operations at  
Terminal 5 in 2014 in preparation to make the facility big-ship ready.

The work will improve the wharf to accommodate the massive cranes needed to unload ultra-
large container ships. Phase one will include slope stabilization, new pile caps and new crane  
rail in the north berth. Crews also will install an electrical substation and ductwork spanning  
the 2,900-foot length of Terminal 5. 

Environmental improvements include new stormwater treatment infrastructure, as well as shore 
power and technology to improve truck flow for improved air quality. Additionally, neighborhood 
enhancements will encompass a railroad quiet zone and upgrades to the Spokane Street corridor 
to improve traffic. 

The terminal operator plans to add four new cranes at each berth when the work is complete. 
The renovated wharf will offer the infrastructure to support 12 cranes total, allowing for future 
expansion. The NWSA forecasts the Terminal 5 improvements will contribute capacity for  
1.6 million of the 7 million TEUs expected to pass through the North and South harbors  
annually in 2050. The Terminal 5 improvement program also is expected to generate  
more than 6,000 jobs and $2 billion in business activity while keeping the NWSA competitive.

The NWSA is served by nearly 4,000 trucks, many of which are 
driven by owner-operators who could not easily spend $30,000 
to $60,000 or more to buy a new truck. 

The Clean Truck Program was originally set to go into effect 
January 2018, but as the date approached only 53 percent of 
trucks were compliant.

As a result, the NWSA Managing Members voted to extend the 
deadline through the end of 2018 to give truckers additional time.

Significant steps were taken to assist drivers with the transition. 
Grant money from the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 
the Washington State Department of Ecology, the Washington 
State Department of Transportation and the Puget Sound Clean 
Air Agency was used to help truckers as much as $27,000 
toward a new truck if they scrapped their old one. 

The NWSA worked to change a state law so it could join the 
granting agencies in pooling funds in the Clean Truck Fund — 
bringing down the risk for Community Development Financial 

Institutions to issue market-rate loans to truckers. Truckers 
who scrapped their old truck were also eligible to receive an 
additional $6,000 bonus.

The NWSA and the African Chamber of Commerce of the Pacific 
Northwest also hosted summer workshops to help drivers better 
understand how to care for the more complicated modern 
trucks. Replacing a poorly-maintained emissions system could 
cost as much as $13,000 or void the truck’s warranty entirely, 
so educating truckers about how to drive and care for the new 
trucks was vital.

As part of the program, RFID tags are also now required on 
trucks entering the international container terminals. The tags 
collect data that terminal operators may be able to use to make 
operations more efficient, eventually leading to faster turn times 
and potentially more revenue for drivers. The NWSA is committed 
to allowing 2007 or newer engines or equivalents through 2025.

Containers first arrived 
at Terminal 5 in 1964, 
and its last expansion 
two decades ago 
allowed it to serve 
vessels carrying up to 
6,000 TEUs. Today, 
many new vessels can 
carry three times that 
amount, following 
the expansion of the 
Panama Canal and 
consolidation of  
ocean carriers.

The voluntary initiative was established in 2008 after the ports of Seattle, Tacoma  
and Vancouver, British Columbia, teamed up to reduce emissions. 
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In late November, the terminal in our North Harbor became the first in Washington state  
history to handle a million twenty-foot equivalent units (TEUs) in a year. By year’s end,  
Terminal 18 moved 1.1 TEUs. Terminal 18 had also set another record in October by becoming 
the first in Puget Sound to move 6,680 containers on and off a single vessel. In the process, 
workers averaged 30 crane moves per hour. 

Tom Bellerud, NWSA’s director of business development, said volume started to increase in 
2017 with the formation of new ocean carrier alliances, resulting in more vessel deployments  
to Terminal 18.

“This reflects a strong partnership between The Northwest Seaport Alliance, SSA Marine and  
labor that sustains hundreds of good paying jobs in our harbor,” said Courtney Gregoire,  
2018 Port of Seattle commission president and NWSA co-chair.

Terminal 18 took steps to increase productivity, which played a role in attracting  
new services and a new ocean carrier, SM Lines.

The terminal invested in rubber-tired gantry cranes and, in collaboration with ILWU Local 19, 
staggered workers’ break schedules to create continuous vessel operations.

“SSA Marine’s willingness to increase assets on the terminal as well as implement additional 
service hours was a major factor in handling this volume increase,” Bellerud said. “SSA reports 
the continuous operations have been beneficial to its terminal fluidity and has allowed for 
more transactions within the terminal, while also creating less gate congestion for the trucking 
community. The additional in-yard equipment has also increased SSA’s terminal efficiency.”

SSA Marine, one of the world’s largest privately held container terminal operators, handles  
about 22 million TEUs a year worldwide.

In the months leading up to the 1-million-TEU mark, Eli Bohm, general manager at Terminal 18, 
said a new motto surfaced: “Teamwork makes the dream work.”

“We definitely have an outstanding team that is without a doubt committed to continued  
success,” Bohm said.

TERMINAL 18  
BREAKS RECORDS

SSA Marine’s Terminal 18 set a record in 2018 by moving  
about as many containers as it did in 2015 and 2016 combined.

Tacoma, Washington, played host to the country’s largest 
gathering of agriculture and forest product transportation 
professionals, showcasing The Northwest Seaport Alliance’s 
capabilities for nearly 500 people across the industry.

With support from the City of Tacoma, Pierce County and the 
Economic Development Board for Tacoma-Pierce County, the 
alliance successfully pitched the Pacific Northwest for the 30th 
annual meeting of the Agricultural Transportation Coalition 
(AgTC), which had been held in California in previous years. 

The 2018 meeting at the Greater Tacoma Convention Center 
addressed tariffs, trucking, shipping technology and other topics 
aligned with the organizations’ mission to make U.S. ag exports 
competitive in international markets. 

Puget Sound’s crucial role in agricultural exports makes it a perfect setting for the industry 
gathering. The NWSA is the leading export gateway for refrigerated commodities and the second-
largest gateway for agriculture and forest products overall. Together, those goods made up 61 
percent of the NWSA’s containerized exports in 2018, totaling more than $7.7 billion in value. The 
alliance’s support of Northwest agriculture dates back 100 years, when farmers were among the 
biggest advocates for port construction in Seattle and Tacoma. 

Attendance hit a record for the event. Participants included representatives from across the  
supply chain, as well as beneficial cargo owners like Amazon and PepsiCo. In addition to speakers 
from ocean carriers and shippers, attendees enjoyed an up-close look at NWSA operations. 
Participants toured port terminals by boat and on land while also exploring the region’s  
distribution, manufacturing and transload capabilities. 

Pleased with the success of the event in 2018, AgTC will be returning to Tacoma for its  
2019 meeting in June.

TACOMA AND NWSA WELCOME 
NEARLY 500 AG EXPORTERS

AgTC represents 
companies that 
import or export 
more than 2 million 
containers annually 
containing food, 
fibers and other 
agriculture products. 
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The site of an immense environmental cleanup project is now a 
90-acre auto facility thanks to more than a decade of work.

The Port of Tacoma and The Northwest Seaport Alliance received 
more than 5,000 vehicles in December 2018 — the first month 
of operations at the Port of Tacoma’s Taylor Way Auto Facility — 
marking a significant milestone in the rehabilitation of a site that 
was once home to the Kaiser Aluminum smelter.

The Port of Tacoma bought the mothballed property in 2003 
and set about cleaning up more than 60 years of contamination. 
Arsenic, cyanide, petroleum, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons 
(PAHs) and polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) were among the 
hazardous materials threatening the harbor.

The cleanup process included taking down buildings and  
the 500-foot smoke stack, removing asbestos and recycling 
more than 60 million pounds of metal, carbon and other 
material. Recycling revenue helped offset demolition costs.

“This project is extremely beneficial to the port and The 
Northwest Seaport Alliance,” said Andre Elmaleh, NWSA’s 
senior manager of business development. “The act of taking 
a previously contaminated property and cleaning it up is core 
to the port’s environmental stewardship program. Placing the 
property into long-term use with a key maritime customer further 
demonstrates our continued investment in cargo diversification.”

NEW AUTO FACILITY 
DRIVES FIRST ARRIVAL

In early 2018, the Port of Tacoma announced Wallenius 
Wilhelmsen Solutions leased the facility for 30 years. The  
facility expands WWS’ presence in the Pacific Northwest. The 
company has called on the Puget Sound region since 1992.  
Its roll-on/roll-off ships dock at the 1,200-foot-long East Blair 
One wharf on the east side of the Blair Waterway. 

“WWS is delighted to grow our relationship with the Port of 
Tacoma through the addition of a state-of-the-art automotive 
processing center,” John Felitto, president of WWS Vehicle 
Services Americas, said when the lease was announced in 
February 2018. “We are thankful for the support of  
The Northwest Seaport Alliance Managing Members  
and the Port of Tacoma team who made this a success.”

When the facility is fully completed in 2019, it is expected to 
generate more than 100 new jobs and process over 100,000 
vehicles a year. About 90 percent of those vehicles will be 
transported by rail to the midwestern United States. 

In early 2018, Port of Tacoma announced a 30-year lease 
with Wallenius Wilhelmsen Solutions for a new auto terminal. 
The facility expands WWS’ presence in the Pacific Northwest.

Federal laws passed after the 9/11 terrorist attacks require ports to scan every imported 
container for radiation. At Pierce County Terminal, operated by Everport Terminal Services, this 
meant an extra 18 to 24 hours to process containers.

Freight sat until operations ended for the day then U.S. Customs and Border Protection officers 
scanned each container. Room had to be left for the mobile scanning trucks to maneuver, and 
the 10-foot-tall containers couldn’t be stacked. This meant the terminal wasn’t maximizing its 
potential: Only 17 percent of the terminal’s capacity was utilized.

The world’s first straddle carrier portals fixed these inefficiencies. Now, the 40-foot-tall 
straddle carriers whisking containers from ships to trains simply pass through one of the  
two portals, completing in seconds what used to take up to a day. Now that containers can  
be stacked three high and room doesn’t need to be left for scanning trucks, the yard density 
has increased to 83 percent.  

The change could triple rail traffic at the terminal, said Mike Reilly, NWSA’s director of 
intermodal business development. “To think that the terminal was operating with all of those 
inefficiencies for years, it creates a great opportunity to be aggressive and go after new 
business,” Reilly said. “If we were operating with handcuffs before, now the handcuffs are off.”

Each portal’s scanning equipment is housed inside two three-container stacks. A seventh 
container sits between the stacks to help straddle carrier drivers align themselves and their cargo.

Work to devise a better scanning operation started after the passage of the 2006 Security  
and Accountability For Every (SAFE) Port Act and required the work of many. U.S. Sen. Patty 
Murray, senior member of the Senate Appropriations Committee, helped secure the Port of 
Tacoma as the test site.

Also working on the project: U.S. Customs and Border Protection, the Department of Homeland 
Security’s Countering Weapons of Mass Destruction Office (formerly the Domestic Nuclear 
Detection Office), the Department of Energy’s Pacific Northwest Laboratory and the Savannah 
River National Laboratory, and the John Hopkins University Applied Physics Laboratory. 
Stakeholders secured more than $20 million in federal funding for the project.

After a year of testing, the portals were commissioned in October 2018. Shortly thereafter 
Murray said, “This new, innovative approach to maritime security will help defend against 
paralyzing threats to our country and support continued economic growth by the Port of 
Tacoma and The Northwest Seaport Alliance that will help families and communities in  
Puget Sound and across our state thrive.”

WORLD’S FIRST STRADDLE 
CARRIER PORTALS ENHANCE 
SECURITY, BOOST EFFICIENCY

A groundbreaking project more than a decade in the making dramatically 
boosted efficiency at Pierce County Terminal starting in 2018.
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MAKING ROOM FOR MORE; 
DIGGING DEEP IN THE NORTH 
AND SOUTH HARBORS

Construction in the West Waterway of the Duwamish River 
could be complete by 2024, which aligns with the NWSA’s 
planned renovation of Terminal 5 for ultra-large container ships.  
Deepening of the East Waterway will begin in 2025 following 
the removal of contaminated sediment that will be done as part 
of the Harbor Island Superfund cleanup. 

In the South Harbor, the NWSA began the same process to 
make the Blair Waterway better able to accommodate ultra-
large vessels. The alliance signed a cost-sharing agreement  
with the Corps in August for a feasibility study and 
environmental assessment that represent the first steps  
toward project approval. The NWSA anticipates drafts of  
those documents will be complete in 2019, with final versions 
finished the following year and submission of a signed Corps 
Chief of Engineers Report to Congress in 2021. 

The authorized depth of the Blair Waterway — adjacent to 
Tacoma’s newly expanded Husky Terminal — is currently  
-51 feet MLLW. The Corps will evaluate options for deepening 
that channel to between -52 feet and -58 feet MLLW. During 
the study process, the NWSA will manage the sediment 
characterization study and contribute to ship simulations and 
economic, engineering and environmental data gathering. 

Studies are underway in both harbors to evaluate the feasibility 
of using clean dredge material to build new habitat. That effort 
would be aimed at improving nearshore areas to support 
juvenile salmon and the food chain on which they depend. 

The Corps’ extensive work and its successful partnership with 
the NWSA have been essential to preparation for the growing 
fleet of vessels carrying more than 10,000 containers. Efforts to 
deepen channels in both Tacoma and Seattle will help ensure 
the ports serve the region’s shipping needs for decades to come.

The Northwest Seaport Alliance’s 
preparation for the big-ship future isn’t 
limited to developments on land. The 
waterways themselves are among the 
region’s biggest assets, and plans progressed 
in 2018 to deepen three channels in the 
North and South harbors.

The depth of Puget Sound provides The Northwest Seaport 
Alliance with a natural advantage over many other U.S. ports. 
Even though the channels serving our container terminals are 
among the deepest in the nation, at -51 feet mean lower low 
water (MLLW), depth limitations can cause tidal delays for some 
larger ships. In June 2018, the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers 
completed a feasibility study of a project that would make Seattle 
the deepest container port in the nation, at -57 feet MLLW. 

The partnership between the NWSA and the Corps formally 
began in 2014 with the signing of a cost-sharing agreement 
for a feasibility study of the project. The $3 million cost of the 
study was split equally between the Corps and the alliance, 
which contributed sediment sampling, contract management, 
economic research and public outreach. Congress authorized 
the channel deepening in October 2018. The next step will be 
acquiring federal funds for preconstruction engineering and 
design, which is tentatively scheduled to begin in 2020. 
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The Northwest Seaport Alliance presented a pair of new awards 
during our Annual Breakfast in April 2019.

The North Star Awards program launched in 2018 to recognize 
customers and stakeholders for achievements and contributions 
to the Puget Sound region’s economic and environmental vitality.

The Cargo Anchor Award goes to a company that helps increase 
marine cargo volume and generates jobs in the NWSA gateway. 
The Environmental Stewardship Award goes to a company that 
promotes environmental sustainability in an industrial setting or 
shows overall commitment to the environment.

“Our customers and stakeholders are making decisions and 
investments that ultimately help drive the success of The 
Northwest Seaport Alliance gateway and contribute to the 
economic and environmental health of the region,” said Larry 
Kvidera, NWSA’s manager of marketing and international trade. 

“We think it is important to recognize companies for hallmark 
efforts that are particularly innovative or impactful.”

There was an abundance of strong candidates in 2018. The 
Cargo Anchor Award received nominations from 13 companies, 
while the Environmental Stewardship Award received seven 
nominations. Winners were selected by a six-member 
committee comprised of the NWSA co-chairs and subject  
matter experts from the public and private sectors. 

The first Cargo Anchor Award went to Prologis. The world-
renowned industrial and commercial real estate company was 
nominated for its Prologis Park Tacoma, a 1.3-million-square- 
foot warehouse on an 80-acre undeveloped lot in the South 
Harbor, and a three-floor, 590,000-square-foot warehouse in 
the Georgetown area of the North Harbor. The South Harbor 
facility is leased to UPS, Tigers, JFC and SuperValu resulting in 
nearly 400 full-time jobs and 234 drivers per day. 

The first Environmental Stewardship Award went to TOTE 
Maritime Alaska. TOTE, operating out of Tacoma since 1976, 
is converting its Orca Class vessels to run on liquefied natural 
gas (LNG). LNG evaporates when exposed to the environment, 
eliminating the risk of fuel spills in Puget Sound. TOTE is 
partnering with Puget Sound Energy to build a $350 million 
LNG facility across the street from its South Harbor terminal.

Kvidera says the long-term goal of the North Star Awards 
program is to recognize achievements benefiting the gateway 
and region, promote a competitive and innovative culture and 
sense of pride in the gateway, and “continue to build on our 
reputation as the Gateway to Solutions.”

For the second year in a row, The Northwest Seaport Alliance 
was honored as a Green Supply Chain Partner by Inbound 
Logistics magazine. Eight U.S. ports were among the 75 trade 
sector organizations to receive the designation, which was also 
given to exceptional trucking companies, railroads, shipping lines, 
freight forwarders and air cargo carriers. The magazine publishes 
the list to highlight industry players that “go above and beyond  
to ensure their global supply chains are sustainable, and that  
their operations are socially and environmentally friendly.”

The award called out NWSA’s emissions reductions efforts, 
such as the Clean Truck Program, expanded shore power and 
retrofitted cargo-handling equipment. New fuel requirements, 
along with alliance initiatives, reduced diesel emissions from 
trucks by 47 percent, emissions from trains by 51 percent and 
emissions from ships by 88 percent. Additionally, improvements 
to stormwater management reduced zinc and copper pollution 
from railroad terminals by 95 percent. 

The NWSA’s operations also garnered positive attention from the 
shipping industry. In December, the Journal of Commerce (JOC) 
recognized the NWSA as the most improved port facility at its 

annual Port Performance North America event in New Jersey. 
Between 2016 and 2017, productivity increased 19 percent in the 
North and South harbors. The Port of Tacoma moved an average 
of 58.8 containers per hour in 2017, according to JOC data, and 
the Port of Seattle averaged 48.4.

Industry stakeholders also gave high marks to the NWSA’s 
performance in 2018. Logistics Management featured the NWSA 
in its Quest for Quality awards, which have included the alliance 
since its formation in 2015. Selected by 4,500 buyers of logistics 
and transportation services, the winners are evaluated based 
on their ease of doing business, value, ocean carrier network, 
intermodal network and equipment/operations. The NWSA  
was one of only four ports on the West Coast to receive the 
Quest for Quality distinction.

NWSA LAUNCHES  
NORTH STAR AWARDS

NWSA EARNS AWARDS FOR 
ENVIRONMENTAL EFFORTS  
AND PERFORMANCE

The Northwest Seaport Alliance again 
won industry commendations in 2018 
for our green practices, as well as 
operational improvements and quality 
metrics in the eyes of port stakeholders. 

The North Star Awards program 
launched in 2018 to recognize customers 
and stakeholders for achievements and 
contributions to the Puget Sound region’s 
economic and environmental vitality.
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The Northwest Seaport Alliance
is the fourth-largest container
gateway in North America.  

VALUE OF TWO-WAY 
INTERNATIONAL TRADE

VALUE OF 
INTERNATIONAL IMPORTS

VALUE OF 
INTERNATIONAL EXPORTS

TOP 10 EXPORT COMMODITIESTOP 10 IMPORT COMMODITIES

$10.7 BILLION $8.8 BILLION $6.9 BILLION $5.1 BILLION

$2.0 BILLION

$1.9 BILLION $1.4 BILLION

$2.0 BILLION

TOP 10 INTERNATIONAL TRADING PARTNERS (VESSEL)

NWSA CARGO HIGHLIGHTS

3,797,626
TEUs

30,174,623
metric tons

141,143
units

248,933
metric tons

23,160,570
board feet

$77.5
billion

$5.4
billion

1,930
calls

$77.5 BILLION

$61.0 BILLION

$77,510,003,520

$60,952,354,159

$16.6 BILLION
$16,557,649,361

$3.3 BILLION$3.8 BILLION

$2.0 BILLION $1.6 BILLION

$666.0 MILLION

$518.8 MILLION $518.2 MILLION

EGGS AND 
DAIRY PRODUCTS

$632.6 MILLION$684.0 MILLION

$1.4 BILLION $1.1 BILLION

$691.9 MILLION

CHINA $33.4 BILLION

JAPAN $15.6 BILLION

SOUTH KOREA $6.1 BILLION

TAIWAN $3.8 BILLION

VIETNAM $3.2 BILLION

INDONESIA $1.3 BILLION

THAILAND $1.3 BILLION

MALAYSIA $1.0 BILLION

AUSTRALIA $874.6 MILLION

INDIA $865.5 MILLION

TOP 11-20 INTERNATIONAL TRADING PARTNERS (VESSEL)

PHILIPPINES $783.4 MILLION

GERMANY $739.1 MILLION

CANADA $667.3 MILLION

SINGAPORE $635.2 MILLION

HONG KONG $600.7 MILLION

ITALY $545.9 MILLION

NETHERLANDS $414.8 MILLION

BRAZIL $331.5 MILLION

NEW ZEALAND $329.7 MILLION

CHILE $325.1 MILLION

NWSA 2018 
TRADE STATISTICS
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NWSA
FINANCIALS
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INTRODUCTION
The Northwest Seaport Alliance (NWSA) Management Discussion and 
Analysis (MD&A) of financial activities and performance introduces the 
2018 and 2017 financial statements of the NWSA, a Port Development 
Authority. NWSA management prepared this MD&A and readers  
should consider it in conjunction with the financial statements and  
the notes thereto. 

The notes are essential to a full understanding of the data contained  
in the financial statements. This report also presents information about 
the formation of the NWSA and certain required supplementary  
financial information.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial section of this annual report consists of three parts: MD&A, 
the basic financial statements and the notes to the financial statements. 
The financial statements include: the statements of net position, the 
statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position, and the 
statements of cash flows.

The statements of net position present information on the NWSA’s 
assets and deferred outflows, and liabilities and deferred inflows, with 
the difference between the assets and deferred outflows, and liabilities 
and deferred inflows reported as net position. Over time, increases 
or decreases in net position may serve as an indicator of whether 
the financial position of the NWSA is improving or deteriorating. The 
statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position shows how 
the NWSA’s net position changed during the year. These changes are 
reported in the period in which the underlying event occurs, regardless of 
the timing of related cash flows.

Formation of The Northwest Seaport Alliance
The ports of Seattle and Tacoma (the home ports) joined forces in August 
2015, forming the NWSA to unify management of marine cargo facilities 
and business to strengthen the Puget Sound gateway and attract more 
marine cargo and jobs to the region.

The NWSA is a special purpose governmental entity established as a Port 
Development Authority (PDA), similar to Public Development Authorities 
formed by cities and counties. The PDA is governed by the home ports 
as equal members (each a “Managing Member” and collectively, 
“Managing Members”) with each home port acting through its elected 
commissioners. As approved, the charter for the NWSA (“Charter”) may 
be amended only by mutual agreement of the Managing Members. Each 
home port will remain a separate legal entity, independently governed by 
its own elected commissioners. Each home port has granted to the NWSA 
a license for the NWSA’s exclusive use, operation and management of 
certain facilities, but ownership of the licensed facilities remains with the 
home ports, not with the NWSA.

Membership Interests
The home ports made an initial contribution of certain cargo terminals 
and related marine cargo business activities to the NWSA through license 
agreements (“Licensed Properties”). Under these agreements, the NWSA 
is charged with managing the properties as an agent on behalf of the 
Managing Members. The initial contribution of each home port to the 
NWSA was 50 percent (based on the value of the contributed facilities 
using cash flow forecasts for each parcel that went to the NWSA) with 
a revaluation review that was deferred until 2019 by the Managing 
Members. The revaluation review is to determine if material changes in 
cash flows from the Licensed Properties have occurred since the initial 
valuation. A change in the valuation of the cash flow forecasts of these 
facilities could result in a change in Membership Interests. The Managing 
Members shall approve any change in Membership Interest by vote, 
to include provision for addressing any change to distributions and 
allocations as a result of the change in Membership Interest. Changes in 
Membership Interest do not affect a Managing Member’s voting rights 
under the Charter, as votes are not weighted by or otherwise determined 
by Membership Interest. 

On April 2, 2019, In lieu of completing the required revaluation of 
Membership Interest, the Managing Members approved, and the Port of 
Seattle commission agreed to an additional contribution from the Port 
of Seattle to the NWSA of up to $32 million in recognition that certain 
forecasted revenue streams in the initial valuation were not secured by 
long-term contractual agreements. Additional information is provided in 
Note 11, Subsequent Events.

Financial Framework
The NWSA intends to support the credit profiles of both home ports, and 
its financial framework will preserve both ports’ commitment to financial 
strength and fiscal stewardship. The NWSA distributes cash to each home 
port based on cash flow from operations, calculated pursuant to generally 
accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Distributions are to be made 
no less than quarterly based on each Managing Member’s Membership 
Interest. Cash flow from operations will be distributed to home ports and 
not retained by the NWSA for funding capital investments.

The NWSA is responsible for capital investments, including renewal and 
replacement projects and new development. Both home ports work 
cooperatively with the NWSA to develop an annual capital investment 
plan for approval by each Managing Member. Capital funding will be 
provided by joint contributions from the home ports. Each Managing 
Member must approve its capital contributions.

The Charter recognizes that each home port’s respective share of revenues 
received by the NWSA with respect to the Licensed Properties has been 
or may be pledged in connection with the home port’s bond obligations. 
Under the Charter, the Managing Members instruct the Chief Executive 

Officer (CEO) to manage the PDA in a prudent and reasonable manner 
in support of the home ports’ respective bond covenants. The home 
ports shall keep the CEO and the NWSA management informed of their 
respective bond obligations, and shall each notify the other home port 
of any proposed change to such home port’s governing bond resolutions 
as soon as practical before adoption. The Charter does not modify or 
alter the obligations of each home port with respect to its own bond 
obligations. The NWSA does not assume any obligations to the home 
ports’ bondholders. 

With respect to bonds of each home port that were outstanding at 
the time of the formation of the NWSA, the Managing Members shall 
establish and maintain a requirement for the NWSA to calculate and 
establish a minimum level of net income from the NWSA equal to the 
amount required for the home ports to meet their bond rate covenants in 
effect at the time of formation of the NWSA (“Bond Income Calculation,” 
initially calculated to be $90 million). The Managing Members shall 
require the Bond Income Calculation to be reviewed annually as part of 
the NWSA budget process and the Managing Members may adjust the 
Bond Income Calculation so long as it does not cause any home port to 
fail to comply with its rate covenant in effect at the time of formation of 
the NWSA. The NWSA may not take any action that reasonably would 
reduce NWSA income below the minimum level established by the Bond 
Income Calculation unless each Managing Member separately votes to 
approve that action. Such a vote by each Managing Member must occur 
even if the action is within the CEO’s delegated authority. The Bond 
Income Calculation is subject to adjustment, including reductions  
resulting from payment or refunding of bonds outstanding at the time  
of the formation of the NWSA.

Funding
The NWSA’s operations began January 1, 2016.  Each home port provided 
an initial contribution for working capital of $25.5 million, for a total 
initial working capital funding of $51.0 million. Working capital cannot be 
redirected to fund capital construction as defined in the Charter.

Future needs are evaluated during the annual budget process or if 
the working capital reserve should decline below a target minimum 
established by the Managing Members. Managing Members each must 
vote affirmatively to approve additional working capital contributions.

In 2016, each home port also provided initial capital construction 
contributions of $13.5 million (totaling $27.0 million), equal to the 
budgeted capital investment plan. The home ports also provided  
$8.9 million and $7.9 million, respectively, in noncash construction in 
process for capital projects that started in the home ports and were 
completed by NWSA. Throughout the year the home ports provided 
additional combined contributions of $29.1 million to fund capital 
construction cash flow needs for 2016. 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS Year Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
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Statements of Net Position (dollars in thousands):
2018 2017 2016

Current assets $    91,948 $  100,803 $   119,740

Capital assets, net 234,235 152,228 80,532

Long-term investments 13,369 12,535 ---

Other assets 2,600 3,025 3,447

Total assets $ 342,152 $ 268,591 $ 203,719

Deferred outflows of resources $      1,652 $         481 ---

Current liabilities $    36,837 $    41,553 $    58,927

Noncurrent liabilities 21,710 19,642 13,655

Total liabilities $    58,547 $    61,195 $     72,582

Deferred inflows of resources $      1,258 349 ---

Net investment in capital assets $  234,235 $  152,228 $    80,532

Unrestricted 49,764 55,300 50,605

Total net position $  283,999 $  207,528 $  131,137

The NWSA’s total net position was $284.0 million at December 31, 2018. Of this amount, $234.2 million  
was the net investment in capital assets and $49.8 million was unrestricted and available to finance  
operating activities. The NWSA’s total net position was $207.5 million at December 31, 2017. Of this amount, 
$152.2 million was the net investment in capital assets and $55.3 million was unrestricted and available to 
finance operating activities. The NWSA’s net investment in capital assets represents capital assets for the 
NWSA’s terminal and real estate facilities.

During 2017, the home ports made capital construction contributions of $69.1 million of which $61.2 million  
was spent on container terminal improvements and container crane acquisitions at Husky Terminal on Pier 4,  
and $3.4 million was spent on Terminal 5 (T5) design and other terminal developments in the North Harbor. 

During 2018, the home ports funded NWSA’s capital construction spending of $83.3 million in 2018, of which 
$51.2 million was spent on container cranes and improvements on Pier 4, $15.0 million was for stormwater 
improvements, and $8.0 million for dock improvements at Terminal 46. More information is presented in the 
Capital Assets section below. 

Financial Position Summary
The statements of net position present the financial position of the NWSA. The statements include all of the 
NWSA’s assets and deferred outflows, and liabilities and deferred inflows. Net position serves as an indicator 
of the NWSA’s financial position. The NWSA’s current assets consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, 
investments and accounts receivable.

The change in net position is an indicator of whether the overall fiscal condition of the NWSA has improved or 
worsened during the year. The following summary compares operating results for 2018, 2017 and 2016.

Statements of Revenues, Expenses and  
Changes in Net Position (dollars in thousands):

2018 2017 2016

Operating revenues $  192,574 $  194,985 $  195,170

Operating expenses 89,132 85,895 80,264

Operating income 103,442 109,090 114,906

Non-operating revenues (expenses): 

Interest income 1,254 777 755
Net decrease in the fair value of 
investments 23 (43) (328)

Other non-operating (expense) income, net 3,361 (297) 7,835

Total non-operating revenues, net 4,638 437 8,262

Capital grant contributions 3,905 324 ---
Increase in net position before net 
Managing Member contributions 
(distributions), net 111,985 109,851 123,168

Managing Member contributions 
(distributions), net (35,514) (33,460) 7,969

Increase in net position 76,471 76,391 131,137

Net position, beginning of year 207,528 131,137 ---
Net position, end of year $ 283,999 $ 207,528 $ 131,137

The NWSA operates three major business lines:
Container business: International and domestic container cargo is a core business for the NWSA. As one of the 
northernmost gateways on the U.S. West Coast, the Pacific Northwest has long been the primary hub for water-
borne trade with Alaska, as well as a major gateway for trans-pacific trade. The gateway’s on-dock and near-dock 
intermodal rail yards, along with international and domestic rail services to the U.S. Midwest, are an integral part 
of the container business. The NWSA also has on-dock intermodal yards that generate revenue from loading 
containers to and from rail cars. 
Non-container business: This line of business is comprised of breakbulk (roll-on and roll-off, also known as 
RoRo), bulk and auto cargoes. Aside from handling agricultural and mining equipment and other rolling stock, the 
NWSA’s South Harbor is designated as a strategic military port for transport of military cargoes. Auto customers 
include Kia, Mazda and Mitsubishi. Auto Warehousing Company (AWC), a tenant, is the largest auto processor on 
the U.S. West Coast. 

Real estate business: This line of business is focused on non-terminal industrial and commercial properties and 
facilities that complement the container and non-container businesses and offer a broad range of services for the 
NWSA’s international and domestic customers, including warehousing, distribution, manufacturing and marine services.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued) Year Ended December 31, 2018

A summary of revenue and operating expenses by business lines for the years ended December 31 is presented in 
the following table (dollars in thousands):

Revenue: 2018 2017 2016

Container $  159,667 $  162,695 $  163,711

Non-container 20,745 20,750 20,013

Real estate 12,162 11,540 11,446

Total revenue 192,574 $ 194,985 $ 195,170

Operating expenses 89,132 85,895 80,2642

Operating income $ 103,442 $ 109,090 $ 114,906

2018 Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position versus the Prior Year  
Container business revenue decreased $3.0 million as container revenues were down $4.0 million primarily due 
to the APM Terminal lease termination payment in the prior year of $5.7 million. The new shipping alliances that 
were formed in 2017 continued to shift cargo from the South Harbor to the North Harbor and Canada, increasing 
Terminal 18 revenue by $2.6 million and decreasing revenues at East Sitcum and Husky terminals by $1.0 million. 
The shifting of cargo also decreased intermodal revenue by $0.7 million at the north intermodal yard in the South 
Harbor. 

Breakbulk revenues were up $0.5 million as the mix of higher weight cargo increased revenue based on tonnage. 
Auto revenues were down $0.4 million due to a 4 percent decrease in auto units as Kia shifted production from 
Asia to Mexico. 

Real estate revenue was up $0.6 million over the prior year due to short-term rents at Terminal 5 of $0.2 million, 
and multiple other locations had increased rent revenue due to escalations. 

Operating expense of $89.1 million increased $3.2 million over the prior year. Depreciation expense increased by 
$4.1 million as a result of new asset additions and operating expenses were up by $1.1 million for Terminal 46 
apron and crane rail design. These increases were offset by lower variable intermodal operating costs (longshore 
labor, equipment expense) of $1.3 million at the north intermodal yard due to container cargo shifting to the North 
Harbor and Canada and a decrease of $1.0 million from the 2017 extended gate program that was initiated to 
improve truck turn times and mitigate traffic congestion.  

Non-operating income in 2018 was $4.2 million more than the prior year primarily due to the contributed 
stormwater improvement asset of $3.1 million at Terminal 18. Interest income and an adjustment in fair value  
of investments of $0.7 million was up $0.3 million versus 2017 due to the rising interest rate environment. 

Capital grant contributions from the TIGER grant were $3.8 million in 2018 and $0.3 million in 2017.

2017 Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position versus the Prior Year  
Container revenue of $162.7 million was down $1.0 million versus the prior year. Rent revenue at Terminal 5 was 
down $5.4 million due to the expiration of a lease with Foss Maritime. The Grand Alliance also did not renew its 
lease at Washington United Terminal and the cargo was diverted from Washington United Terminal and Pierce 
County Terminal to Husky Terminal and Terminal 18 (T18). Husky Terminal benefited from this shift of cargo as 
it increased their crane and strad revenue $2.9 million over the prior year. However, expiration of the lease at 
East Sitcum Terminal offset the increase at Husky by $2.0 million versus the prior year. In 2017, the inland point 
intermodal cargo handled at NWSA trended down, while local cargo transported via truck increased which 
reduced intermodal volume and revenue. The lease expirations at East Sitcum Terminal and at Washington  
United Terminal shifted cargo to Husky Terminal and to Terminal 18 and resulted in an intermodal revenue 
reduction of $3.9 million over the previous year. 

These were offset by positive variances of $5.7 million at West Sitcum terminal, for the payment that became due as 
a result of APM exercising its early termination option and a $1.0 million annual rental adjustment at Terminal 18.

Non-container revenue of $20.8 million was up $0.7 million versus the prior year. Breakbulk revenue was up 
$1.2 million due to military moves which were offset by auto business revenues down $0.4 million as volumes 
decreased by 11 percent due to an automobile customer shifting production to Mexico from Asia, resulting in 
lower storage revenue. 

Real estate revenue of $11.5 million was up $0.1 million for annual rent escalations. 

Operating expense of $85.9 million was up $5.6 million and 7.0 percent compared to the prior year. Maintenance 
costs increased $2.6 million primarily for facility improvements to buildings and paving of $1.5 million and 
increased crane and strad repairs of $0.8 million. Depreciation expense was up $1.6 million over the prior year 
for assets (container crane upgrades, building and roof renovations, rail, and yard improvements) placed into 
service in 2016 and 2017. Administrative expenses were up $1.2 million as consulting costs were up $0.9 million 
for IT system development to replace older systems and governmental affairs consulting that was recorded in the 
home ports in the prior year. Operations expenses were up $0.4 million primarily due to revenue-related operating 
expenses to support non-container revenue that increased by $0.7 million, offset by North Harbor maintenance 
dredging down $0.5 million from the prior year. Environmental expense was down $0.4 million versus the 
prior year due to dredging-related environmental costs of $0.9 million in the North Harbor in 2016, offset by 
environmental project spending up $0.5 million compared with the prior year.

This resulted in operating income of $109.1 million compared to prior year operating income of $114.9 million,  
a decrease of $5.8 million.

Non-operating Income
Net non-operating income increased $4.2 million over the prior year from contribution income of $3.1 million  
for the tenant’s contribution to stormwater improvements in the North Harbor and higher interest income. 

Non-operating income in 2017 was $7.8 million less than the prior year primarily due to the contributed 
stormwater improvement asset of $7.8 million in 2016. Interest income and an adjustment in fair value of 
investments of $0.7 million was up $0.3 million versus 2016 due to the rising interest rate environment. 

Capital grant contributions were $0.3 million in 2017 from the TIGER grant that is funding improvements  
on Terminal 46 in the North Harbor.

Net Position
The net position reflects the investments received from the home ports, and the NWSA’s earnings and distributions 
to Managing Members. The net position is presented as follows (dollars in thousands):

2017
2018 

Activity 2018

Working capital contributions $    51,000 $        --- $    51,000

Capital construction contributions 125,260 83,326 208,586

Non-cash capital work-in-process contributions 16,793 --- 16,793

Total contributions 193,053 83,326 276,379

Increase in net position before Managing Member 
contributions and distributions 233,019 111,985 345,004

Distributions to Managing Members (218,544) (118,840) (337,384)

Net position, end of year $ 207,528 $ 76,471 $ 283,999
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Capital assets
The home ports provided NWSA with initial funding of $27.0 million to support a five-year capital investment 
plan in 2016. Additional capital construction contributions to support the capital investment plan are reviewed 
at least annually as part of the budget process or may occur during the year when major projects are authorized 
by the Managing Members. The investments in capital assets, also referred to as post-formation assets, may 
include buildings, improvements, machinery and equipment, and construction in process. The Charter restricts the 
purchase of land.

During 2018, capital construction contributions from the home ports amounted to $83.3 million with major 
projects presented in the following table (dollars in thousands):

Pier 4 redevelopment and container cranes $    51,211

North and South Harbor terminal stormwater improvements 15,041

Terminal 46 dock rehabilitation 8,028

Container straddle carriers 3,080

Marine terminal dock fender replacements 1,657

Air quality systems infrastructure 1,389

Terminals 5 and 18 dock rehabilitation design and improvements 1,255

     Total $   81,661

During 2016 and 2017, the Managing Members authorized additional capital construction contributions for 
redevelopment of Pier 4 and the backlands, improvements to the gate, and a total of eight cranes to support 
an amended terminal lease agreement in the South Harbor. The total estimated project costs for this terminal 
are $255.0 million of which $149.3 million has been spent through 2018 with project completion expected in 
2020. Home port capital construction contributions during 2017 and 2016 were $69.1 million and $56.1 million,  
respectively, of which $98.1 million funded Pier 4 construction and container cranes and $27.1 million funded 
building, facility and stormwater improvements. 

The NWSA’s investment in capital assets, net of depreciation, for its business activities as of December 31, 2018, 
2017 and 2016, amounted to $234.2 million, $152.2 million and $80.5 million, respectively. This investment in 
capital assets includes building and land improvements, machinery and equipment, and construction in process. 
See Note 3 for additional information.

REQUEST FOR INFORMATION
The Northwest Seaport Alliance designed this financial report to provide our citizens, customers, investors and 
creditors with an overview of the NWSA’s finances. If you have questions or need additional information please 
visit our website at www.nwseaportalliance.com or contact: Chief Financial Officer, P.O. Box 2985, Tacoma, 
Washington, 98401-2985, Telephone 800-657-9808.
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STATEMENT OF NET POSITION Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017  (Dollars in Thousands)

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS 2018 2017

Cash and cash equivalents  $   10,261    $     7,134   

Investments, at fair value 53,807  72,760   

Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts 14,448  21,555   

Related-party receivable — Managing Members 10,696  9,028   

Prepayments and other current assets 2,736  2,861   

Total current assets 91,948 100,803      

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Long-term investments:

      Restricted investments, at fair value 13,369 12,535

 Long-term investments 13,369 12,535

CAPITAL ASSETS

Buildings      11,637    4,991   

Improvements 125,810  17,553   

Machinery and equipment 55,604  2,832   

Construction in process 50,203  129,564   

Total cost 243,254     154,940

Less accumulated depreciation 9,019  2,712   

Net property and equipment 234,235  152,228   

OTHER ASSETS    

Other assets 2,600 3,025

Total non-current assets 250,204    167,788   

Total assets  $342,152  $268,591

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Pension deferred outflows $    1,652 $       481

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION
CURRENT LIABILITIES 2018 2017

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $   26,597    $   19,024   

Related-party payable — Managing Members 8,833  21,391   

Payroll and taxes payable 1,407  1,138   

Total current liabilities   36,837     41,553     

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES

Security deposits 14,415 13,619

Net pension liability 3,059 2,123

Other noncurrent liabilities 4,236 3,900

Total noncurrent liabilities 21,710   19,642      

Total liabilities   58,547   61,195   

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Pension deferred inflows  $    1,258 $       349

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets $  234,235 $  152,228

Unrestricted 49,764 55,300

Total net position $ 283,999 $ 207,528

See notes to financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017  (Dollars in Thousands)

OPERATING REVENUES 2018 2017
Property rentals $  192,574  $  194,985   

Total operating revenues 192,574  194,985   

OPERATING EXPENSES
Operations 41,298  40,800   

Maintenance 15,786  17,329   
Administration 19,283  19,560   
Security 4,306  4,235   
Environmental 2,154  1,791   

Total before depreciation 82,827  83,715   
Depreciation 6,305  2,180   

Total operating expenses 89,132  85,895   
Operating income 103,442  109,090   

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Interest income 1,254  777   
Net decrease in the fair value of investments 23  (43)   
Other non-operating expenses, net 3,361  (297)  

Total non-operating income, net 4,638  437  
Increase in net position, before capital contributions 108,080  109,527   

Capital grant contributions 3,905 324
Increase in net position before Managing Members 
contributions and distributions 111,985 109,851

Capital construction contributions 83,326 69,120
Distributions to Managing Members (118,840) (102,580)

Total Managing Member investment (35,514) (33,460)
Beginning of year, net position 207,528 131,137

Net position, end of year $ 283,999 $ 207,528

See notes to financial statements.



NWSA ANNUAL REPORT 2018 30

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017  (Dollars in Thousands)

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO NET CASH  
PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 2018 2017
Operating income $ 103,442 $ 109,090
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash 
provided by operating activities:

Non-operating income (expense) 731 (249)

Depreciation 6,305  2,180
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable 7,527  (10,024)  

Decrease (increase) in prepayments and other current assets 126  (622)  

Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities  3,594  4,378   

Increase in related-party — Managing Members (3,814)  (7,700)   

Increase in security deposits 812  3,175   

Increase in payroll and taxes payable 242  77   

Increase in pension related accounts 674 1,991

Total adjustments and changes 16,197  (6,545)   

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 119,639 $ 102,545 

NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Capital asset additions and other purchases financed  
with accounts payable $         866 $      4,739   
Contributions receivable from Managing Members for  
capital construction $     6,919 $    15,584   
Distributions payable to Managing Members $   (7,580)  $  (10,140)  

Increase (decrease) in fair value of investments $          23 $       (43)  

See notes to financial statements.

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 2018 2017

Cash received from customers $ 200,183 $ 184,104
Cash paid to suppliers, longshore labor and employees (43,088) (62,413)
Cash paid to home ports for support services (38,252) (23,010)
Cash held for customer deposits 796 3,864

Net cash provided by operating activities 119,639 102,545

CASH FLOWS FROM NON-CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Cash distributions to Managing Members (121,400) (113,320)

Net cash used by non-capital financing activities (121,400) (113,320)

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Cash received from Managing Members for capital construction 85,435 75,678

Acquisition and construction of capital assets (87,590) (76,624)

Cash received from federal grants 155 112

Net cash used in capital and related financing activities (2,000) (834)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of investments (96,841) (65,142)
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investment securities 102,500 61,300
Interest received on investments 1,229 767

Net cash used in investing activities 6,888 (3,075)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents 3,127 (14,684)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Beginning of year 7,134 21,818

End of year $  10,261 $  7,134

See notes to financial statements.
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NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Reporting entity
The ports of Seattle and Tacoma formed The Northwest Seaport Alliance (NWSA), a special purpose 
governmental entity established as a Port Development Authority (PDA), with an effective date of August 4, 2015 
(the Effective Date). The PDA was formed pursuant to a provision in Title 53 Revised Code of Washington (RCW) 
that grants ports that meet certain criteria the authority to create a separate PDA, similar to public development 
authorities created by Washington cities and counties. Each Port Commission is a Managing Member of the 
NWSA. Each port will remain a separate legal entity, independently governed by its own elected commissioners. 
As formed, the NWSA is to continue for an indefinite term until dissolution. As approved, the Charter for the 
NWSA may be amended only by mutual agreement of both ports as the NWSA’s Managing Members. On 
January 1, 2016, the NWSA became a separate legal entity.

The State Legislature granted qualifying ports the authority to create a PDA for the management of maritime 
activities and to allow ports to act cooperatively and use financial resources strategically, while remaining 
separate entities and complying with federal regulations. Pursuant to the PDA statute, if a PDA is created jointly 
by more than one port district, the PDA must be managed by each port district as a member, in accordance 
with the terms of the statute and the Charter. Any port district that creates a PDA must oversee the affairs, 
operations and funds of the PDA to correct any deficiency, and ensure the purposes of each program undertaken 
are reasonably accomplished. The statute permits a PDA, in managing maritime activities of a port district or 
districts, to own and sell real and personal property; to enter into contracts, to sue and be sued; to loan and 
borrow funds; to issue bonds, notes and other evidences of indebtedness; to transfer funds, real or personal 
property, property interests or services; and to perform community services related to maritime activities 
managed by the PDA. As previously discussed, the statute allows, but the Charter prohibits, the NWSA to issue 
bonds, borrow funds or enter into other debt instruments. By statute, PDAs do not have the power of eminent 
domain or the power to levy taxes or special assessments. In transferring real property to a PDA, the port district 
or districts creating the PDA must impose appropriate deed restrictions necessary to ensure the continued use of 
the property for the public purpose for which the property is transferred.

The NWSA is governed by its Managing Members, with each Managing Member acting pursuant to the 
Charter through its elected commissioners. The Managing Members appointed a Chief Executive Officer who 
is responsible for staffing and day-to-day operations. In addition, both Managing Members provide services 
through support service agreements with a portion of staff time allocated to and reimbursed by the NWSA. 

Effective January 1, 2016, the revenues and expenses associated with Licensed Properties were accounted for 
and reported by the NWSA. The home ports agreed to share investments, earnings and distributions on a 50/50 
basis. The home ports initial contribution of Licensed Properties to the NWSA was 50 percent (based on the 
value of the contributed facilities using cash flow forecasts for each parcel that went to the NWSA). The initial 
cash investment totaling $78 million, of which $51 million funded working capital and $27 million funded capital 
construction projects, were shared equally. The home ports contributed an additional $16.8 million of non-cash 
work in process capital projects that started in the home ports and will be completed by NWSA for an opening 
investment of $94.8 million.

The NWSA distributes cash to each home port based on cash flow from operations, calculated pursuant to 
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Distributions are to be made no less than quarterly based on 
each Managing Member’s percentage of total shares; however, distributions have generally been made in the 
following month after the amount due was determined. Additional information about the formation of the NWSA 
is presented in the MD&A.

Nature of business 
The PDA is used to account for the general operations of the NWSA as more fully described below.

The NWSA is authorized by Washington state law to provide and charge rentals, tariffs and other fees for docks, 
wharves and similar harbor facilities, including associated storage and traffic handling facilities, for waterborne 
commerce. The NWSA may also provide freight and passenger terminals and transfer and storage facilities for 
other modes of transportation, including air, rail and motor vehicles. 

Measurement focus, basis of accounting and presentation
The financial statements of the NWSA have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America, as applied to government units. The Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting 
and financial reporting principles. The NWSA is accounted for on a flow of economic resources measurement 
focus and the full-accrual basis of accounting where revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are 
recognized when incurred, regardless of the timing of the related cash flows.

The accounting records of the NWSA are maintained in accordance with methods prescribed by the State Auditor 
under the authority of Chapter 43.09, RCW. The NWSA also follows the Uniform System of Accounts for Port 
Districts in the State of Washington.

Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, at the date of the financial statements. 
Significant estimates also affect the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 
Significant estimates made by the NWSA include depreciation, pension related accounts, investments and the 
allocation of expenses from each home port. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Significant risks and uncertainties
The NWSA is subject to certain business risks that could have a material impact on future operations and 
financial performance. These risks include economic conditions, collective bargaining disputes, federal, state and 
local government regulations, and changes in law.

The formation of the NWSA is intended to reduce pricing competition between the home ports by creating 
a unified gateway, to allow for coordination regarding customer relationships, to improve capacity utilization 
between the home ports and to rationalize strategic capital investments. The formation of the NWSA may or 
may not successfully address these risks, and may create new risks, including the risks associated with a new 
joint venture funded by the Managing Members with equal Membership Interests, and reliance on the financial 
strength of the home ports to fund future capital expenditures and shortfall in working capital.

The Charter requires that the NWSA maintain the Bond Income Calculation and not to take any action that 
would reasonably reduce its income below this minimum net operating income level unless each Managing 
Member votes separately to approve that action. This minimum net operating level was established based on 
the amount required at formation of the NWSA for the Managing Members to meet their then current bond rate 
covenants, and may not always reflect the amount required to meet bond rate covenants on a go-forward basis.

If net operating income before depreciation of the NWSA is not sufficient for either home port to be in 
compliance with a rate covenant (as described in each Managing Member’s governing bond resolutions in effect 
as of the Effective Date), then: (i) upon that Managing Member’s request, the NWSA shall hire an independent 
third-party consultant to perform analysis and make recommendations for actions needed to achieve bond 
covenant compliance; (ii) if the consultant recommends an action that the NWSA is unwilling, unable or refuses 
to undertake, either Managing Member can require dissolution of the NWSA following the dispute resolution 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017  
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process even if within the “Initial Period” (as defined in the Charter, “the expiration of 20 years following  
the NWSA’s formation”); and (iii) the NWSA shall have at least four months to respond, act and or dissolve 
following its receipt of the consultant’s recommended action, unless a shorter time is required by the applicable 
bond covenants. 

The NWSA selected as its Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Executive Officer of the Port of Tacoma, who may serve  
in those dual roles for up to five years.  

Cash 
Cash represents cash and demand deposits. The NWSA maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts, which are 
covered by the Public Deposit Protection Commission of the State of Washington.  

Trade accounts receivable 
Trade accounts receivable are carried at original invoice amount less an estimate made for doubtful accounts 
based on a review of all outstanding amounts. Management determines the allowance for doubtful accounts 
by identifying delinquent accounts and by using historical experience applied to an aging of accounts. Trade 
accounts receivable are written off when deemed uncollectible. Recoveries of receivables previously written off 
are recorded when received. The allowance for doubtful accounts at December 31, 2018 and 2017, was $3.5 
million and $2.4 million, respectively

Investments 
Investments are stated at fair value which is the price that would be received in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date. The NWSA also has investments in the state Local Government 
Investment Pool (LGIP). The LGIP is similar to a money market fund recognized by the Securities and Exchange 
Commission. The LGIP invests in U.S. Agency Securities, Repurchase Agreements, U.S. Treasury Securities, Interest 
Bearing Bank Deposits and Certificates of Deposit. The investments are limited to high-quality obligations with 
limited maximum and average maturities. These investments are valued at amortized cost. Interest income on 
investments is recognized as earned. Interest income and changes in the fair value of investments are recognized 
on the statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position. The NWSA’s general policy is to not hold 
more than 20 percent of its holdings in any one investment. See Note 2 for further information.

Capital assets and depreciation  
Capital assets are recorded at cost. Donated assets are recorded at acquisition value on the date donated. The 
NWSA’s policy is to capitalize all asset additions greater than $20,000 and with an estimated life of more than 
three years. Depreciation is computed on the straight-line method. The following lives are used:

	 Years

Buildings and improvements 	 10-75

Machinery and equipment 	 3-20

Preliminary costs incurred for proposed projects are reported as construction in process on the statements of net 
position during the period of construction. As projects are constructed, the project costs are transferred to the 
appropriate capital asset accounts; charges that relate to abandoned projects are expensed when the project is 
abandoned.

Net position
Net position consists of net investment in capital assets, restricted and unrestricted net position. Net investment 
in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation which was $234.2 million and $152.2 
million at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Net position is reported as restricted when there are 
limitations imposed on its use either through the enabling legislation adopted by the NWSA or through external 

restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors, laws or regulations of other governments. There were no restrictions 
on net position at December 31, 2018 and 2017. The unrestricted component of net position is the net amount 
of the assets less liabilities that are not included in the determination of net investment in capital assets or the 
restricted components of net position. Unrestricted net position was $49.8 million and $55.3 million at December 
31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Retentions payable 
The NWSA enters into construction contracts that may include retention provisions such that a certain 
percentage of the contract amount is held for payment until completion of the contract and acceptance by the 
NWSA. The NWSA’s policy is to pay the retention due only after completion and acceptance have occurred. 
Retentions payable totaled $219,000 and $130,000 at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Retentions 
payable are included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the accompanying statements of net position.

Federal and state grants 
The NWSA may receive federal and state grants as reimbursement for construction of facilities and other capital 
projects. These grants are included in capital grant contributions on the accompanying statements  
of revenues, expenses and changes in net position.

Employee benefits 
The NWSA accrues unpaid vacation and sick leave benefit amounts as earned and payable upon termination. 
These benefits are accrued at current rates of compensation. Accrued vacation and sick leave are included 
in payroll and taxes payable and amounted to $405,000 and $198,000, respectively, at December 31, 2018, 
and $398,000 and $195,000, respectively, at December 31, 2017. Vacation and sick leave paid in 2018 were 
$363,000 and $222,000, respectively, and $345,000 and $185,000, respectively, in 2017. The estimated total 
amount of vacation and sick leave expected to be paid in 2019 is $405,000 and $198,000, respectively. Vacation 
benefits allow for a maximum hours accrual of two years of benefit and the benefit balance is paid out upon 
termination. Sick leave benefits allow for a maximum of 120 hours to accrue each year and hours over 240 are 
cashed out annually and the balance is paid out upon termination.

The NWSA provides health care benefits for eligible employees through the voluntary employees’ beneficiary 
association (VEBA), which is a tax-exempt health and welfare trust and through the health reimbursement 
arrangement (HRA) plan. The NWSA employees were grandfathered into the plan because of their prior 
employment with the home ports (plan closed to employees hired after April 1, 2013). The plan requires the NWSA 
to contribute $229 and $222 per month in 2018 and 2017, respectively, to the VEBA accounts of eligible employees. 
The NWSA contributed $81,000 and $82,000 to eligible employee VEBA accounts in 2018 and 2017, respectively.

The NWSA offers its employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with Internal Revenue Code 
Section 457. The plan, available to all NWSA employees, permits them to defer a portion of their salary until 
future years. In accordance with GASB authoritative guidance, accounting and reporting for Internal Revenue 
Code Section 457 deferred compensation plans, employee assets are not reflected in the NWSA’s financial 
statements. This plan is fully funded and held in an external trust.

Pensions 
The NWSA’s full-time and qualifying part-time employees participate in the cost-sharing, multiple-employer 
public employee defined benefit retirement plans administered by the Washington State Department of 
Retirement Systems (DRS). On January 1, 2017, the NWSA established a separate account with DRS and recorded 
its share of the DRS pension liability. In 2016, the NWSA employees were on the Port of Tacoma DRS account 
and the NWSA made all required contributions directly to DRS for its employees.

The net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, 
pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Washington State Department of Retirement 
System (PERS) Plan and additions to/deductions from PERS’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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same basis as they are reported to PERS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee 
contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are 
reported at fair value (see Note 6).

Environmental remediation costs 
The NWSA environmental remediation policy requires accrual of pollution remediation obligation amounts 
when: (a) one of the following specific obligating events is met and (b) the amount can be reasonably 
estimated. Obligating events include: imminent endangerment to the public; permit violation; NWSA named as 
party responsible for sharing costs; NWSA named in a lawsuit to compel participation in pollution remediation; 
or commenced or legally obligated to commence pollution remediation. Potential cost recoveries such as 
insurance proceeds, if any, are evaluated separately from the NWSA’s pollution remediation obligation. Costs 
incurred for pollution remediation obligations are typically recorded as non-operating environmental expenses 
unless the expenditures relate to the NWSA’s principal ongoing operations, in which case they are recorded 
as operating expenses. Costs incurred for pollution remediation obligations can be capitalized if they meet 
specific criteria. Capitalization criteria include: preparation of property in anticipation of a sale; preparation 
of property for use if the property was acquired with known or suspected pollution that was expected to be 
remediated; performance of pollution remediation that restores a pollution-caused decline in service utility that 
was recognized as an asset impairment; or acquisition of property, plant and equipment that have a future 
alternative use not associated with pollution remediation efforts. 

The NWSA licenses property from the home ports for its operations. Remediation costs associated with 
contamination on Licensed Properties that occurred before the formation of the NWSA shall remain the 
responsibility of the home port in which the Licensed Property is located. Remediation costs associated with 
redevelopment on Licensed Properties shall be the responsibility of the NWSA. At December 31, 2018 and 2017, 
the NWSA determined that there was no environmental remediation liability to be recognized.

Lease securities 
Under the terms of certain Licensed Property lease agreements, the NWSA’s customers or tenants are  
required to provide security in the event of delinquencies in rent payment, default, or other events defined in 
these agreements. The security amounts are determined by lease terms. The NWSA held $14.4 million and 
$13.6 million in lease securities at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 

Operating and non-operating revenues and expenses 
Property rental revenues are charges for use of the NWSA’s facilities and are reported as operating revenue. 
Other revenues generated from non-operating sources are classified as non-operating.

Operating expenses are costs primarily related to the property rental activities. Interest expense and other 
expenses incurred not related to the operations of the NWSA’s terminal and property rental activities are 
classified as non-operating.

Recent accounting pronouncements 
In January 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities. The objective of this statement is 
to improve guidance regarding the identification of fiduciary activities for accounting and financial reporting 
purposes and how those activities should be reported and this statement establishes criteria for identifying 
fiduciary activities of all state and local governments. The requirements of this statement are effective for 
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018. The NWSA is currently evaluating the effect of the 
adoption of this standard on its financial statements and related disclosures.

In May 2017, GASB issued Statement No. 87, Leases. The objective of this statement is to better meet the 
information needs of financial statement users by improving accounting and financial reporting for leases by 
governments. The requirements of this statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after December 
15, 2019. The NWSA is currently evaluating the effect of the adoption of this standard on its financial 
statements and related disclosures.

NOTE 2. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

Discretionary deposits 
The NWSA’s cash of $10.3 million and $7.1 million at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, were deposited 
in qualified depositories as required by state statute. Deposits in excess of federal depository insurance coverage 
are covered by the Public Deposit Protection Commission of the State of Washington (PDPC). The PDPC is a 
statutory authority under Chapter 39.58 RCW. Currently, all public depositories with the state fully collateralize 
uninsured public deposits at 50 percent.

Investments 
State of Washington statutes authorize the NWSA to invest in direct obligations of the U.S. Government, 
certificates of deposit, bankers’ acceptances, repurchase agreements, commercial paper, supranationals and 
certain municipal bonds. These investments must be placed with or through qualified public depositories of the 
state of Washington.

Risks
Interest rate risk: Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value 
of an investment. The NWSA’s investment guideline is to maximize investment return while preserving liquidity. 
To the extent possible, the NWSA will attempt to match its investments with anticipated cash flow requirements 
using the specific-identification method. The NWSA does not have a formal interest rate risk policy

Concentration risk: Concentration risk is defined as holdings greater than 5 percent as noted in the table 
below. The NWSA does not have a formal concentration risk policy.

Credit risk: Credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder 
of the investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized statistical rating 
organization. The local government investment pool (LGIP) is an external investment pool, as defined by the 
GASB. The NWSA does not have a formal credit risk policy.

Custodial credit risk: Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the 
NWSA will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession 
of the outside party. To minimize this risk, the NWSA’s policy requires that all security transactions are settled 

“delivery versus payment.” This means that payment is made simultaneously with the receipt of the security. 
These securities are delivered to the NWSA’s safekeeping bank. With the exception of the Washington state 
LGIP, the NWSA’s investment securities are registered, or held by the NWSA or its agent in the NWSA’s name. 
The certificates of deposit are covered by the PDPC. The PDPC is a statutory authority under Chapter 39.58 
RCW. The PDPC approves which banks and thrifts can hold state and local government deposits and monitors 
collateral pledged to secure uninsured public deposits. This secures public treasurers’ deposits when they exceed 
the amount insured by the FDIC by requiring banks and thrifts to pledge securities as collateral.

In August 2018, GASB issued Statement No. 90, Majority Equity Interests — an Amendment of GASB 
Statements No. 14 and No. 61. The primary objectives of this statement are to improve the consistency and 
comparability of reporting a government’s majority equity interest in a legally separate organization and to 
improve the relevance of financial statement information for certain component units. The requirements of this 
statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2018. The NWSA is currently evaluating the 
effect of the adoption of this standard on its financial statements and related disclosures.

Recent accounting pronouncement, adopted:  
In March 2017, GASB issued Statement No. 85, Omnibus 2017. The objective of this statement is to address 
practice issues that have been identified during implementation and application of certain GASB statements. The 
requirements of this statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2017. The adoption of 
this standard in the current year did not have an effect on the financial statements and related disclosures.
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NOTE 2. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)

The LGIP manages a portfolio of securities that meet the maturity, quality, diversification and liquidity 
requirements set forth by the GASB for external investment pools that elect to measure, for financial reporting 
purposes, investments at amortized cost. The funds are limited to high-quality obligations with regulated 
maximum and average maturities to minimize both market and credit risk. LGIP participants may contribute and 
withdraw funds on a daily basis. Participants must inform the Office of the State Treasurer of any contribution 
or withdrawal over $1 million no later than 9 a.m. on the same day the transaction is made. Contributions or 
withdrawals for $1 million or less can be requested at any time prior to 10 a.m. on the day of the transaction. 
However, participants may complete transactions greater than $1 million when notification is made between  
9 a.m. and 10 a.m., at the sole discretion of the Office of the State Treasurer. All participants are required to file 
with the State Treasurer documentation containing the names and titles of the officials authorized to contribute 
or withdraw funds.
Investments and restricted investments for long-term-lease deposit and clean truck program funding on the 
statements of net position are as follows (dollars in thousands):

2018 2017
Investments $   53,807 $    60,225 
Restricted investments at fair value 13,369 12,535

Total deposits and investments $  67,176 $   72,760

The tables below identify the types of investments, concentration of investments in any one issuer, and maturities 
of the NWSA investment portfolio as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 (dollars in thousands):

2018 Maturities (in Years)

Investment Type Carrying 
Value Less than 1 1-3 More than 3

Percentage 
of Total 
Portfolio

Federal Home Loan Bank $  11,398 $        --- $    8,872 $  2,526 17.0%
Federal National Mortgage 
Association 4,961 4,961 --- --- 7.4%
Municipal Bonds 7,711 --- 3,500 4,211 11.4%
Supranationals 6,949 4,962 1,987 --- 10.3%
United States Treasury Bonds 7,971 6,015 --- 1,956 11.9%
State Local Investment Pool* 28,186 28,186 --- --- 42.0%

Total investments $ 67,176 $ 44,124 $ 14,359 $ 8,693 100.0%

Percentage of total 
portfolio 65.7% 21.4% 12.9% 100.0%

2017 Maturities (in Years)

Investment Type Carrying 
Value Less than 1 1-3 More than 3

Percentage 
of Total 
Portfolio

Federal Home Loan Bank $    8,864 $         --- $    4,918 $   3,946 12.2%
Federal National Mortgage 
Association 6,952 2,000 4,952 --- 9.6%
Municipal Bonds 5,825 --- 3,538 2,287 8.0%
Supranationals 1,969 --- 1,969 --- 2.7%
United States Treasury Bonds 1,969 --- --- 1,969 2.7%
State Local Investment Pool* 47,181 47,181 --- --- 64.8%

Total investments $ 72,760 $ 49,181 $ 15,377 $  8,202 100.0%

Percentage of total 
portfolio 67.6% 21.1% 11.3% 100.0%

* Investments in Washington State Local Investment Pool. The investments in the pool are valued at the amortized  
  cost of the pool shares.
See Note 10 for information regarding NWSA’s fair value measurement of its investments.

The tables below identify the credit risk of the NWSA’s investment portfolio as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 
(dollars in thousands):

2018 Moody’s Equivalent Credit Ratings

Investment Type Fair Value A1 Aa3 Aa2 Aa1 Aaa No Rating

Federal Home 
Loan Bank $ 11,398 $      --- $      --- $      --- $      --- $ 11,398 $       ---
Federal National 
Mortgage 
Association 4,961 --- --- --- 4,961 --- ---
Municipal Bonds 7,711 --- 2,165 1,984 3,562 --- ---
Supranationals 6,949 --- --- --- --- 6,949 ---
United States 
Treasury Bonds 7,971 --- --- --- --- 7,971 ---
State Local 
Investment Pool* 28,186 --- --- --- --- --- 28,186

Total $ 67,176 $       --- $  2,165 $  1,984 $  8,523 $ 26,318 $ 28,186
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2017 Moody’s Equivalent Credit Ratings

Investment Type Fair Value A1 Aa3 Aa2 Aa1 Aaa No Rating

Federal Home 
Loan Bank $  8,864 $    --- $    --- $    --- $    --- $  8,864 $     ---
Federal National 
Mortgage 
Association 6,952 --- --- --- --- 6,952 ---
Municipal Bonds 5,825 --- 2,286 2,006 1,533 --- ---
Supranationals 1,969 --- --- --- --- 1,969 ---
United States 
Treasury Bonds 1,969 --- --- --- --- 1,969 ---
State Local 
Investment Pool* 47,181 --- --- --- --- --- 47,181

Total $72,760 $      --- $2,286 $ 2,006 $1,533 $19,754 $47,181

* Investments in Washington State Local Investment Pool. The investments in the pool are valued at the amortized  
  cost of the pool shares.

NOTE 3. CAPITAL ASSETS
The following capital asset activity took place during 2018 and 2017 (dollars in thousands):

2018

Beginning  
of Year Additions Transfers

Retirements 
and Other

 
End of Year

Capital assets not being 
depreciated:  

   Construction in process $ 129,564   $ 80,689      
 

$(164,304)    $  4,254    $  50,203
Total capital assets  
not being depreciated  129,564     80,689       (164,304)      4,254      50,203
Capital assets being depreciated:
   Buildings   4,991   ---    6,646     ---     11,637
   Improvements   17,553    3,094    105,163     ---    125,810
   Machinery and equipment   2,832    277    52,495    ---     55,604
Total capital assets  
being depreciated   25,376   3,371     164,304        ---    193,051
Less accumulated depreciation:
   Buildings   (830)   (852)  ---   (2)      (1,684)  
   Improvements  (1,105)   (3,314)  ---   ---     (4,419)  
   Machinery and equipment   (777)   (2,139)  ---   ---     (2,916)  
Total accumulated 
depreciation  (2,712)  (6,305)  ---   (2)       (9,019)  
Net, capital assets being 
depreciated  22,664   (2,934)    164,304       (2)      184,032
Net, capital assets $152,228    $ 77,755    $          ---   $  4,252    $234,235

2017

Beginning  
of Year Additions Transfers

Retirements 
and Other

 
End of Year

Capital assets not being 
depreciated:  

   Construction in process $  60,722   $68,920       $ (5,034) $   4,956    $129,564      
Total capital assets  
not being depreciated 60,722 68,920 (5,034) 4,956 129,564 
Capital assets being depreciated:
   Buildings 4,706 --- 285 --- 4,991
   Improvements 14,322 --- 3,231 --- 17,553
   Machinery and equipment 1,314 --- 1,518 --- 2,832
Total capital assets  
being depreciated 20,342 ---   5,034    ---   25,376
Less accumulated depreciation:
   Buildings (156) (674) --- --- (830)
   Improvements (173) (932) --- --- (1,105)
   Machinery and equipment (203) (574) --- --- (777)
Total accumulated 
depreciation (532) (2,180) --- --- (2,712)
Net, capital assets being 
depreciated 19,810 (2,180) 5,034   ---    22,664     
Net, capital assets $ 80,532  $66,740  $       ---   $  4,956  $152,228   
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NOTE 4. RISK MANAGEMENT
The NWSA is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; damage to, theft of, and destruction of assets or 
cargo; natural disasters; and employee injuries. To limit its exposure, the NWSA purchases a variety of insurance 
policies. For marine general liability, the NWSA purchases $150 million in coverage, subject to a $500,000 
deductible. All risk property insurance is purchased by the home ports to include assets owned by the NWSA 
situated on home port land, and the NWSA is listed as a named insured where its interest applies. For details 
concerning property insurance, please consult the notes to the year-end financial reports for the respective  
home ports.  

The NWSA is self-insured for its regular medical coverage. The liability for unpaid medical claims is included in 
payroll and taxes payable on the accompanying statements of net position and is expected to be paid in 2019. 
Excess loss coverage has been purchased through an outside provider to limit individual loss to $110,000. Self-
insured claim activity for December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, is as follows (dollars in thousands):

2018 2017 2016
Claims liability, beginning of year $      121 $      105   $       ---
Claims reserve 1,308   748   735
Payments on claims (1,072)  (732)  (630)

Claims liability, end of year $     357 $    121   $   105

The NWSA is self-insured for workers’ compensation losses. These losses are subject to a $1.25 million self-
insured retention as a Named Insured under the Port of Tacoma’s excess workers’ compensation policy. The 
estimated liability for workers’ compensation is included in payroll and taxes payable on the accompanying 
statements of net position.  At December 31, 2018, the estimated self-insurance liability for workers’ 
compensation was $21,000 and this amount is expected to be paid in 2019. At December 31, 2017, the 
estimated self-insurance liability for workers’ compensation was $22,000. The liability for unpaid claims 
represents the estimated future indemnity, medical, rehabilitation and legal costs for all open claims.  

Workers’ compensation claim activity for December 31, 2018 and 2017, is as follows (dollars in thousands):

2018 2017
Claims liability, beginning of year $      22   $      ---  
Claims incurred during the year 71   28   
Changes in estimate for prior year claims (8) ---
Payments on claims (64)  (6)  

Claims liability, end of year $   21 $   22   

NOTE 5. LEASE COMMITMENTS
The NWSA leases land, office space and other equipment under operating leases that expire through 2023. 
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows (dollars in thousands):

Years ending December 31:
2019 $  1,282
2020 1,061
2021 500
2022 500
2023 500

Total minimum payments required $ 3,843   

Total rent expense under non-cancellable operating leases for the year ended December 31, 2018, was $1,227,000.

The NWSA, as a lessor (via licensing agreements with the home ports), leases land and facilities under terms of 1 
to 42 years. In addition, some properties are rented on a month-to-month basis. Future minimum rents receivable 
under non-cancellable operating leases and subleases are as follows (dollars in thousands):

Years ending December 31:
2019 $    105,491
2020 102,972
2021 99,443
2022 97,050
2023 97,225
Thereafter 1,059,055

Total minimum future rents $1,561,236

Licensed assets of the home ports and NWSA assets held for rental and leasing purposes for the year ended 
December 31, 2018, are as follows (dollars in thousands):

Land  $    659,302   
Buildings, improvements and equipment, net  735,947   

Total, net of accumulated depreciation  $1,395,249   
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NOTE 6. PENSION PLANS
The NWSA’s full-time and qualifying part-time employees participate 
in the cost-sharing, multiple-employer public employee defined 
benefit retirement plans (PERS) administered by the Washington State 
Department of Retirement Systems. On January 1, 2017, the NWSA 
established a separate account with DRS. Prior to January 1, 2017, 
the NWSA employees remained on the Port of Tacoma payroll and 
participated in PERS under the Port of Tacoma DRS account. The NWSA 
made all required contributions directly to DRS prior to 2017.

Historical trends and other information regarding each plan are 
presented in the Washington State Department of Retirement Systems 
comprehensive annual financial report. A copy of this report may be 
obtained at:

Department of Retirement Systems 
Communications Unit 
P. O. Box 48380 
Olympia, WA 98504-8380 
www.drs.wa.gov

Plan description and benefits
PERS was established in 1947, and its retirement benefit provisions are 
contained in Chapters 41.34 and 41.40 RCW. PERS is a cost-sharing, 
multiple-employer retirement system composed of three separate pension 
plans for membership purposes. PERS Plan 1 and PERS Plan 2 are defined 
benefit plans, and PERS Plan 3 is a defined benefit plan with a defined 
contribution component. 

PERS members include elected officials; state employees; employees of 
the Supreme, Appeals and Superior Courts; employees of the Legislature; 
employees of district and municipal courts; employees of local governments; 
and higher education employees not participating in higher education 
retirement programs (HERPs).

PERS is composed of and reported as three separate plans for accounting 
purposes: Plan 1, Plan 2/3 and Plan 3. Plan 1 accounts for the defined 
benefits of Plan 1 members. Plan 2/3 accounts for the defined benefits 
of Plan 2 members and the defined benefit portion of benefits for Plan 3 
members. Plan 3 accounts for the defined contribution portion of benefits 
for Plan 3 members. 

Although members can only be a member of either Plan 2 or Plan 3, 
the defined benefits of Plan 2 and Plan 3 are accounted for in the same 
pension trust fund. All assets of Plan 2/3 may legally be used to pay the 
defined benefits of any of the Plan 2 or Plan 3 members or beneficiaries, 
as the terms of the plans define. Therefore, Plan 2/3 is considered a single 
plan for accounting purposes.

As of June 30, 2018, 398 employers and 772 non-employer contributing 
entities were participating in PERS Plan 1. The plan is closed to new 
entrants. PERS Plan 1 members were vested after the completion of five 
years of eligible service. PERS Plan 1 provides retirement, disability and 
death benefits. Retirement benefits are calculated using 2 percent of the 
member’s Average Final Compensation (AFC) times the member’s years of 
service. AFC is the average of the member’s 24 consecutive highest-paid 
service credit months. Members are eligible for retirement from active 
status at any age with at least 30 years of service, at age 55 with at least 
25 years of service, or at age 60 with at least five years of service. 

PERS Plan 1 retirement benefits are actuarially reduced to reflect the 
choice of a survivor benefit. Members retiring from inactive status before 
the age of 65 may also receive actuarially reduced benefits. Other benefits 
include duty and nonduty disability payments, an optional Cost-of-Living 
Adjustment (COLA), and a one-time, duty-related death benefit, if found 
eligible by the Washington State Department of Labor & Industries.

The PERS Plan 1 member contribution rate is established by statute at 6 
percent. The employer contribution rate is developed by the Office of the 
State Actuary (OSA) and includes an administrative expense component 
that is currently set at 0.18 percent.

PERS Plan 2 members are vested after completing five years of eligible 
service. Plan 3 members are vested in the defined benefit portion of their 
plan after 10 years of service or after five years of service if 12 months of 
that service are earned after age 44. PERS Plan 2/3 provides retirement, 
disability and death benefits. Retirement benefits for Plan 2 are calculated 
using 2 percent of the member’s AFC times the member’s years of service. 
Retirement defined benefits for Plan 3 are calculated using 1 percent of 
AFC times the member’s years of service. AFC is the monthly average of 
the member’s 60 consecutive highest-paid service credit months. PERS 
Plan 2/3 has no cap on years of service credit. 

Members are eligible for retirement with a full benefit at 65 with at least 
five years of service credit. Retirement before age 65 is considered an 
early retirement. PERS Plan 2/3 members who have at least 20 years 
of service credit and are 55 years of age or older are eligible for early 
retirement with a reduced benefit. The benefit is reduced by a factor 
that varies according to age for each year before age 65. PERS Plan 
2/3 retirement benefits are actuarially reduced to reflect the choice of a 
survivor benefit. Other PERS Plan 2/3 benefits include duty and nonduty 
disability payments; a COLA based on the Consumer Price Index, capped 
at 3 percent annually; and a one-time, duty-related death benefit, if found 
eligible by the Washington State Department of Labor & Industries.

The PERS Plan 2/3 employer and employee contribution rates are 
developed by the OSA to fully fund Plan 2 and the defined benefit portion 
of Plan 3. The Plan 2/3 employer rates include a component to address 
the PERS Plan 1 unfunded actuarial accrued liability and an administrative 
expense that is currently set at 0.18 percent.

PERS Plan 3 members are immediately vested in the defined contribution 
portion of their plan. PERS Plan 3 defined contribution benefits are totally 
dependent on employee contributions and investment earnings on those 
contributions. PERS Plan 3 members choose their contribution rate when 
joining membership and can change rates only when changing employers. 
As established by Chapter 41.34 RCW, Plan 3 defined contribution 
rates are set at a minimum of 5 percent and a maximum of 15 percent; 
members have six rate options to choose from. Employers do not 
contribute to the defined contribution benefits.

 
Contributions 
The required contribution rates, expressed as a percentage of covered 
payrolls, as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, were:

2018 PERS Plan 1 PERS Plan 2 PERS Plan 3
Employer* 12.83% 12.83% 12.83%**
Employee 6.00% 7.41% ***

2017 PERS Plan 1 PERS Plan 2 PERS Plan 3
Employer* 12.70% 12.70% 12.70%**
Employee 6.00% 7.38% ***

 
*	 The employer rates include the employer administrative expense fee  
	 of 0.18% for 2018 and 2017.

**	 Plan 3 defined benefit portion only

***	 Rate selected by PERS 3 members, 5% minimum to 15% maximum

Both the NWSA and the employees made the required contributions. 
The NWSA’s required contributions for the year ended December 31 is as 
follows (dollars in thousands):

Year PERS Plan 1 PERS Plan 2/3 Total
2018  $ 309 $ 472  $ 781
2017   286 411   697
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2018 PERS 1 PERS 2/3 Total
Sources of deferred 
outflow of resources:
Net difference between 
projected and actual 
earnings on pension 
plan investments (2) $   --- $    --- $   ---
Changes in 
assumptions (1) --- 12 12
Differences between 
expected and actual 
experience (1)    --- 123 123
Changes in proportion 
and differences 
between NWSA 
contributions and 
proportionate share  
of contributions (1) --- 1,111 1,111
NWSA contributions 
subsequent to 
measurement date 165 241 406

Total $165 $ 1,487 $ 1,652

Sources of deferred 
inflow of resources:
Net difference between 
projected and actual 
earnings on pension 
plan investments (2) $  (82) $ (618) $ (700)
Changes in 
assumptions (1) --- (287) (287)
Differences between 
expected and actual 
experience (1) --- (176) (176)
Changes in proportion 
and differences 
between NWSA 
contributions and 
proportionate share  
of contributions (1) (95) (95)

Total $ (82) $ (1,176) $ (1,258)

(1)	 The recognition period for each plan is equal to the average of the expected 
remaining service lives of all employees provided with pensions through the 
pension plan, which was determined at the beginning of the measurement date.

(2)	 The recognition period is a closed, 5-year period for all plans.

2017 PERS 1 PERS 2/3 Total
Sources of deferred 
outflow of resources:
Net difference between 
projected and actual 
earnings on pension 
plan investments (2) $   --- $   --- $   ---
Changes in 
assumptions (1)    ---    11    11
Differences between 
expected and actual 
experience (1)    --- 104 104
Changes in proportion 
and differences 
between NWSA 
contributions and 
proportionate share  
of contributions (1) --- --- ---
NWSA contributions 
subsequent to 
measurement date 147 219 366

Total $147 $ 334 $ 481

Sources of deferred 
inflow of resources:
Net difference between 
projected and actual 
earnings on pension 
plan investments (2) $  (41) $ (274) $ (315)
Changes in 
assumptions (1) --- --- ---
Differences between 
expected and actual 
experience (1) --- (34) (34)
Changes in proportion 
and differences 
between NWSA 
contributions and 
proportionate share  
of contributions (1) --- --- ---

Total $ (41) $ (308) $ (349)

(1)	 The recognition period for each plan is equal to the average of the expected 
remaining service lives of all employees provided with pensions through the 
pension plan, which was determined at the beginning of the measurement date.

(2)	 The recognition period is a closed, 5-year period for all plans.

NOTE 6. PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED)

Pension liabilities, pension expense, and deferred inflows 
and outflows of resources and related to pensions
At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the NWSA reported a liability of $3.1 
million and $2.1 million, respectively, for its proportionate share of the 
net pension liability. The net pension liability was measured as of June 
30, 2018 and 2017, the total pension liability used to calculate the net 
pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that 
date. The NWSA’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on a 
projection of the NWSA’s long-term share of contributions to the pension 
plan relative to the projected contributions of all participating agencies, 
actuarially determined. At June 30, 2018, the NWSA’s proportionate share 
of net pension liability and the change in proportionate share from June 
30, 2017, is presented in the following table (dollars in thousands):

PERS 1 PERS 2/3 Total
NWSA’s proportionate 
share of the net 
pension liability:

2018 $2,052 $1,007 $3,059
2017 1,093 1,030 2,123

PERS 1 PERS 2/3
NWSA’s proportionate 
share of the net 
pension liability:

2018 0.0459% 0.0590%
2017 0.0230% 0.0296%
Change in 
proportionate share 0.0229% 0.0294%

PERS 1 PERS 2/3 Total
NWSA’s net pension 
expense (benefit):

2018 $ 982 $ (308) $ 674
2017 987 1,004 1,991

For the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions were from the following sources (dollars in thousands):
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As of December 31, 2018, deferred outflows of resources related 
to pensions resulting from NWSA’s contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date were $406,000 and will be recognized as a reduction 
of the net pension liability in the year ended December 31, 2019. Other 
amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows 
of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as 
follows (dollars in thousands):

Years ending December 31: PERS 1 PERS 2/3 Total
2019 $         4 $   96 $  100
2020 (18) (9) (27)
2021 (53) (181) (234)
2022 (15) 57 42
2023 --- 145 145
Thereafter --- (38) (38)

Total $ (82) $   70 $ (12)

Actuarial assumptions
The 2018 pension liability (TPL) for each of the plans was determined by 
an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2017, with the results rolled forward 
to June 30, 2018. Besides the discount rate, the actuarial assumptions 
used in the June 30, 2017, valuation were based on the results of the 
2007-2012 Experience Study Report and the 2017 Economic Experience 
Study. Additional assumptions for subsequent events and law changes are 
current as of the 2017 actuarial valuation report. 

The 2017 pension liability (TPL) for each of the plans was determined by 
an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2016, with the results rolled forward 
to June 30, 2017. Besides the discount rate, the actuarial assumptions 
used in the valuation are summarized in the Actuarial Section of DRS’ 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report located on the DRS employer-
resource GASB webpage. These assumptions reflect the results of OSA’s 
2007-2012 Experience Study and the 2017 Economic Experience Study.

Additional assumptions for subsequent events and law changes are 
current as of the 2017 actuarial valuation report are as follows:

Inflation
2.75 percent total economic inflation; 3.50 percent salary inflation (2017: 
3.0 percent for total economic inflation; 3.75 percent for salary inflation).

Salary increases
In addition to the base 3.50 percent salary inflation assumption, salaries 
are also expected to grow by promotions and longevity (2017: salaries 
were expected to grow 3.75 percent).

Mortality rates
Rates were based on the RP-2000 reports, “Combined Healthy Table” 
and “Combined Disabled Table”, which the Society of Actuaries 
publishes. The OSA applied offsets to the base table and recognized 
future improvements in mortality by projecting the mortality rates using 
100 percent Scale BB. Mortality rates are applied on a generational 
basis, meaning members are assumed to receive additional mortality 
improvements in each future year throughout their lifetimes.

Long-term expected rate of return
For 2018, the OSA selected a 7.40 percent long-term expected rate 
of return on pension plan investments using a building-block method 
(2017: 7.5 percent long-term expected rate of return). In selecting this 
assumption, OSA reviewed the historical experience data, considered  
the historical conditions that produced past annual investment returns, 
and considered Capital Market Assumptions (CMA) and simulated 
expected investment returns the Workplace Safety & Insurance Board 
(WSIB) provided.

The CMAs contain three pieces of information for each class of  
assets WSIB currently invests in:

•	 Expected annual return

•	 Standard deviation of the annual return

•	 Correlations between the annual returns of each asset class with every 
other asset class

The WSIB uses the CMAs and their target asset allocation to simulate 
future investment returns over various time horizons.

Estimated rates of return by asset class
Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class 
included in the pension plan’s target asset allocation as of June 30, 2018, 
are summarized in the table below.

Asset Class
Target 

Allocation

% Long-Term Expected 
Real Rate of Return 

Arithmetic
Fixed income 20% 1.70%
Tangible assets 7% 4.90%
Real estate 18% 5.80%
Global equity 32% 6.30%
Private equity 23% 9.30%

Total 100%

The inflation component used to create the table is 2.20 percent  
and represents WSIB’s most recent long-term estimate of broad  
economic inflation.

Discount rate
The discount rate used to measure the total 2018 pension liability was 
7.40 percent for all plans (2017: 7.5 percent). To determine that rate, an 
asset sufficiency test was completed to test whether each pension plan’s 
fiduciary net position was sufficient to make all projected future benefit 
payments of current plan members. 

Contributions from plan members and employers are assumed to continue 
being made at contractually required rates (including PERS Plans 2 and 3 
employers, whose rates include a component for the PERS Plan 1 liability). 
Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was 
projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of 
current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return 
of 7.40 percent (2017: 7.5 percent) was used as the discount rate to 
determine the total liability.

Sensitivity net pension liability to changes 
in the discount rate
The table below presents the net pension liability of employers, calculated 
using the discount rate of 7.40 percent as well as what employers’ net 
pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate 1 
percentage point lower (6.4 percent) or 1 percentage point higher  
(8.4 percent) than the current rate (dollars in thousands):

December 31, 2018: Pension 
Trust

1% 
Decrease

Discount 
Rate

1% 
Increase

Discount rate 6.40% 7.40% 8.40%
Proportionate share of 
net pension liability

PERS 
1 $2,521 $2,052 $ 1,645

Proportionate share of 
net pension liability/
(asset)

PERS 
2/3 4,606 1,007 (1,944)

December 31, 2017: Pension 
Trust

1% 
Decrease

Discount 
Rate

1% 
Increase

Discount rate 6.50% 7.50% 8.50%
Proportionate share of 
net pension liability

PERS 
1 $1,332 $1,093 $ 887

Proportionate share of 
net pension liability/
(asset)

PERS 
2/3 2,774 1,030 (400)



NWSA ANNUAL REPORT 2018 40

NOTE 6. PENSION PLANS  (CONCLUDED)

Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is 
available in the separately issued DRS financial reports. Additional actuarial 
and pension plan information is included in the DRS 2017 Comprehensive 
Annual Financial Report (CAFR), including descriptions of actuarial data, 
assumptions, methods, and plan provisions relied on for the preparation 
of GASB 67 and GASB 68. Additional details regarding this information is 
included in OSA’s 2017 Actuarial Valuation Report on the OSA website.

NOTE 7. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Commitments
The NWSA has entered into separate contractual agreements for terminal 
maintenance, infrastructure improvements, environmental projects, and 
professional services. At December 31, 2018, the remaining commitments 
on these agreements amounted to $41.4 million. 

Description

Remaining 
Commitments 

(Thousands)
Terminal projects $  39,800
Environmental 305
Other (including professional services) 1,315

Total minimum payments required $ 41,420

During NWSA’s startup period, the Port of Tacoma and the Port of Seattle, 
acting as agents for the NWSA per support services agreements, issued 
contracts on behalf of the NWSA. The remaining commitments on these 
contracts totaled $6,411,000 at December 31, 2018, of which $448,000 
are related to contracts issued by the Port of Tacoma and $5,963,000 
are related to contracts issued by the Port of Seattle. Both ports will be 
reimbursed by the NWSA.

The NWSA agreed to purchase support services from both home ports 
during NWSA’s startup and transition period. See Note 9, Related-party 
Transactions, for additional information.

Contingencies
The NWSA is named as a defendant in various lawsuits incidental to 
carrying out its function. The NWSA believes its ultimate liability, if any, 
will not be material to the financial statements.

NOTE 8. MAJOR CUSTOMERS
Operating revenues for the year ended December 31, 2018, of $192.6 
million included $139.0 million, or 72 percent, of operating revenue from  
10 customers. The top three customers accounted for 55 percent of 
operating revenues from the top 10 customers, and 40 percent of total 

operating revenues. Receivables from the 10 significant customers totaled 
$6.7 million, or 46 percent, of total trade receivables at December 31, 2018.

Operating revenues for the year ended December 31, 2017, of $195.0 
million included $135.2 million, or 69 percent, of operating revenue from  
10 customers. The top three customers accounted for 56 percent of 
operating revenues from the top 10 customers, and 39 percent of the total 
operating revenues. Receivables from the 10 significant customers totaled 
$4.8 million, or 27 percent, of total trade receivables at December 31, 2017.

NOTE 9. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
As more fully described in the MD&A, Note 1, Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies, and Note 7, Commitments and Contingencies, the 
NWSA entered into licensing agreements with each home port for the 
exclusive use, operation and management of certain facilities or Licensed 
Properties. These licensing agreements generated 100 percent of NWSA 
revenues in 2018 and 2017.

Support services agreements
The NWSA entered into support services agreements with the home 
ports to receive support services during NWSA’s startup and transition 
period as the NWSA works to set up its back-office infrastructure and 
staff positions. The support services received by the NWSA include 
finance, human resources, information technology, public affairs, 
risk management, capital construction and environmental project 
management and contracting, equipment and facilities maintenance, 
security and office infrastructure. Support services charged to the NWSA 
from the home ports totaled $38.2 million and $38.8 million in 2018  
and 2017, respectively. The expenses are included in operating expenses 
on the accompanying statements of revenues, expenses and changes  
in net position. 

The NWSA entered into support services agreements with the Port 
of Tacoma to provide the Port of Tacoma executive management, 
commercial, environmental and planning support services. Support 
services provided to the Port of Tacoma by NWSA amounted to $1.4 
million in 2018 and 2017. The amount of operating expenses on the 
accompanying statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net 
position are net of the charges to the Port of Tacoma. The NWSA did not 
enter into agreements to provide support services to the Port of Seattle. 

Related-party receivable and payable 
The NWSA generally repays the home ports for support services and 
operating costs incurred as agents for the NWSA, in the following month, 
after the amount due is determined. At December 31, 2018 and 2017, 
$1.2 million and $11.3 million, respectively, were payable to the home 
ports and are presented on the statements of net position as related-
party payable — Managing Members.

The NWSA distributes cash flow from operations, calculated pursuant to 
GAAP to the home ports. Distributions have generally been made in the 
following month, after the amount due is determined. At December 31, 
2018 and 2017, $7.6 million and $10.1 million, respectively, were payable 
to the home ports and are presented on the statements of net position as 
related-party payable — Managing Members.

The home ports generally fund capital contribution requirements in 
the following month, after the amount due is determined. During 2018 
and 2017, home ports contributed $83.3 million and $69.1 million, 
respectively, of funding for capital construction projects in accordance 
with the capital investment plan approved by the Managing Members. 
At December 31, 2018 and 2017, $10.7 million and $9.0 million, 
respectively, were receivable from the home ports and are presented on 
the statements of net position as related-party receivable - Managing 
Members.

The Managing Members also serve as commissioners for their respective 
home ports. Additionally, the NWSA CEO also serves as the CEO of the 
Port of Tacoma. The CEO will serve in dual roles until a Port of Tacoma 
CEO is hired in 2019.

NOTE 10. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
The NWSA’s assets that are measured and reported on a fair value basis 
are classified and disclosed in one of the following three categories:

Level 1:	Quoted market prices in active markets for identical  
assets or liabilities.

Level 2:	Observable market-based inputs or unobservable inputs  
that are corroborated by market data.

Level 3:	Unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by market data.

In determining the appropriate levels, the NWSA performs a detailed 
analysis of the assets and liabilities that are subject to the guidance. 
The NWSA’s fair value measurements are evaluated by an independent 
third-party vendor. The third-party vendor uses a variety of methods 
when pricing these securities that incorporate relevant observable 
market data to arrive at an estimate of what a buyer in the marketplace 
would pay for a security under current market conditions. Level 1 inputs 
are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets assessed at the 
measurement date. An active market for the asset is a principal market 
in which transactions for the asset are open to many and occur with 
sufficient frequency and volume. Level 2 inputs include quoted prices 
for similar assets in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar 
assets in markets where there isn’t sufficient activity, and/or where price 
quotations vary substantially either over time or among market makers 
(some brokered markets, for example), or in which little information is 
released publicly. The NWSA does not have any Level 3 assets or liabilities 
at December 31, 2018 and 2017.
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REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION Year Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 (Dollars in Thousands)

SCHEDULE OF THE NORTHWEST SEAPORT ALLIANCE’S SHARE  
OF NET PENSION ASSET/LIABILITY (NPA/NPL)
PERS PLAN 1 2018 2017

NWSA’s proportion of NPL 0.0459% 0.0230%

NWSA’s proportionate share of NPL $ 2,052 $ 1,093

NWSA’s covered-employee payroll $      --- $      ---

NWSA’s proportionate share of the net pension liability  
as a percentage of its covered-employee payroll NA NA

Plan fiduciary net pension position as a percentage of the total pension liability 63.22% 61.24%

Contractually required contribution $    309 $    286

Contributions in relation to the contractually required contribution (326) (286)

Contribution excess $   (17) $     ---

NWSA’s covered-employee payroll $      --- $      ---

Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee payroll 0.00% 0.00%

PERS PLAN 2/3

NWSA’s proportion of NPL 0.0590% 0.0296%

NWSA’s proportionate share of NPL $ 1,007 $ 1,030

NWSA’s covered-employee payroll $ 6,151 $ 5,844

NWSA’s proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset)  
as a percentage of its covered-employee payroll 16.40% 17.60%

Plan fiduciary net pension position as a percentage of the total pension liability 95.8% 91%

Contractually required contribution $    472 $    411

Contributions in relation to the contractually required contribution (495) (411)

Contribution excess $   (23) $     ---

NWSA’s covered-employee payroll $ 6,440 $ 5,844

Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee payroll 7.7% 7.0%

(1) Information presented prospectively beginning with December 31, 2017, prior year reported with Port of Tacoma.
See Note 6 of the financial statements for additional information on the plan.

The tables below present the balances of assets measured at fair  
value by level within the hierarchy at December 31, 2018 and 2017 
(dollars in thousands):

Fair Value of Investments as of 
December 31, 2018

Level 1 Level 2 Total
Investments:
Federal Home Loan Bank $     --- $  11,398 $  11,398
Federal National 
Mortgage Association 4,961 4,961
Municipal Bonds 2,165 5,546 7,711
Supranational Bonds --- 6,949 6,949
United States Treasury 
Bonds 7,971 --- 7,971

Total investments $ 10,136 $ 28,854 $ 38,990

Fair Value of Investments as of 
December 31, 2017

Level 1 Level 2 Total
Investments:
Federal Home Loan Bank $     --- $    8,864 $   8,864
Federal National 
Mortgage Association 2,000 4,952 6,952
Municipal Bonds 2,286 3,539 5,825
Supranational Bonds --- 1,969 1,969
United States Treasury 
Bonds 1,969 --- 1,969

Total investments $ 6,255 $ 19,324 $ 25,579

NOTE 11. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
On April 2, 2019, the Managing Members and the Port of Seattle 
commission authorized the completion of the one-time Membership Interest 
Affirmation of 50/50 for each home port in satisfaction of the NWSA Charter. 
In lieu of completing the required revaluation of Membership Interest, the 
Port of Seattle agreed to pay up to $32 million additional contribution to 
the NWSA. This additional contribution was in recognition that certain 
forecasted revenue streams not secured by long-term contractual agreements 
in the initial valuation may not be achieved without the redevelopment of 
Terminal 5. This additional contribution with be made to the NWSA in three 
installments. The first two installments of $11 million each will be made on or 
around March 31, 2020 and 2021, respectively. The final installment will be 
made in 2024 and may be adjusted if the actual redevelopment costs are less 
than the program authorization. The Managing Members also authorized the 
distribution of these affirmation payments to the home ports equally after 
the NWSA receives the funds from the Port of Seattle. 
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Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of The 
Northwest Seaport Alliance (the NWSA) as of and for the years 
ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the related notes to 
the financial statements, which, collectively, comprise the NWSA’s 
basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America; this includes the design, implementation and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and 
fair presentation of the financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial 
statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America and the standards applicable to financial 
audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by 
the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In 
making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal 
control relevant to NWSA’s preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of NWSA’s internal 
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the NWSA 
as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the respective changes 
in financial position and cash flows thereof for the years then 
ended, in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America.

 
Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information: Accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America require that 
the management’s discussion and analysis and the schedule of 
NWSA’s share of net pension asset/liability as listed in the table 
of contents be presented to supplement the basic financial 
statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic 
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of 
financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an 
appropriate operational, economic or historical context. We have 
applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary 
information in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of 
inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the 

information and comparing the information for consistency with 
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial 
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audits 
of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion 
or provide any assurance on the information because the limited 
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express 
an opinion or provide any assurance

Other Reporting Required by  
Government Auditing Standards 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have 
also issued our report dated April 5, 2019, on our consideration 
of the NWSA’s internal control over financial reporting and 
on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. 
The purpose of that report is to solely describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the NWSA’s internal control over financial 
reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of 
an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering NWSA’s internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance.

 

Tacoma, Washington 
April 5, 2019

The Managing Members

The Northwest Seaport Alliance

Tacoma, Washington

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

RSM US LLP is the U.S. member firm of RSM International, a global network of independent audit, tax and consulting firms. Visit rsmus.com/aboutus for more information regarding RSM US LLP and RSM International.
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